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ABSTRACT

Young, James R., A Study of the Diplomatic Policies of William H.
Seward Relative to the French Intervention in Mexico,
1861-1867. Master of Arts (History), August, 1970, Sam
Houston State University, Huntsville, Texas.

Secretary of State William H. Seward was one of the truly
great Secretaries of State. The beginning of his term was marked by
an aggressive, reckless view regarding United States foreign policy.
Once he viewed the foreign policy of the United States with more
perspective, his alternative passive policy served extremely well.

Napoleon III's scheme from the beginning was to establish a
Latin American empire and check the growth and influence of the
United States. The suspension of debts owed to England, France, and
Spain was merely an excuse used by France and Spain to justify inter-
vention. Mexico had been troubled by internal strife and civil war,
thereby leaving it impossible to pay its debts. France could not
have hoped to secure the monetary debts owed to it in Mexico's eco-
nomic condition. Regardless of French intentions this scheme points
out the difficulty a nation might encounter in an effort to secure
debts by military force.

The foreign policy of Mr. Seward at first was intended to
prevent intervention but failed due to the internal problems of the
United States, being itself involved in the Civil War. This war left
the United States poverless to oppose the French scheme to establish
a European monarchy in Mexico.

Once the intervention began, Mr. Seward pursued a course of

moderation in dealing with the French occupation of Mexico, yet his



foreign policy had to prevent French recognition of the Confederacy,
prevent a war with France, quieten domestic opposition to the French
scheme, and leave the way open for a more opportune time in which to
demand French withdrawal. Mr. Seward chartered a narrow course be-
tween remaining silent and giving protest to France. On the one hand
silence might encourage France and protest might bring retaliation.
Mr. Seward's policy was founded on prudence and dictated by common
sense. Gently and politely Secretary Seward informed France its
actions were disapproved by the United States but never to the point
where he gained the active disfavor of France.

Mr. Seward's policy was determined by his expectation that
Mexico would be eventually conquered by immigration and a war with
Mexico would be senseless, in view of the depleted United States
Treasury. Commercial expectations were also considerations in
Mr. Seward's foreign policy. He believed the United States would
need France as a friend with which to deal commercially, so the
United States should not instigate a war with France.

The Civil War's end removed the greatest danger to the United
States, but Secretary Seward's policy of neutrality remained un-
changed. Mr. Seward convinced France the United States still re-
mained neutral, but in a more decided tone, he let the French know
their actions were becoming irritating to the United States people
and Congress might direct by law the foreign policy of the United
States.

Refusing to heed the passions of the United States people and
Congress, Secretary Seward skillfully used public opinion as pressure
to induce France to remove her troops from Mexico. France removed

its troops in 1867 due to political conditions in Europe, the skill



of Mr. Seward's diplomacy, and the spirit of the Mexican people, and

shortly afterwards, Ferdinand Maximilian was captured and executed.
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CHAPTER I
INTRODUCTION

The period of the Cold War in the 1960's brought confusion,
misunderstanding, and dissention among citizens of the United States.
While the people of the United States are more educated today than
at any time in the past, it is likewise true that citizens and their
representatives do not always have reliable information with which
to base their opinions and grievances regarding the foreign policies
of the United States. It is not suggested that people be unconcerned
about policies of our leaders for this is but the democratic process.
It is suggested that people in relevant positions have much broader
knowledge with which to deal with diplomatic problems. Much may be
learned by studying the past.

More than a century ago, three European nations intervened in
the Republic of Mexico. Failure of the Secretary of State of the
United States, William H. Seward, to promptly correct this situation
brought much criticism and lack of confidence in the Secretary of
State by the people. This criticism went so far on occasions that
individuals attempted to boldly take action on their own. Far from
having a complete understanding of the problem, these individual's
acts might have brought disastrous results for the United States. An
investigation of the diplomatic policies used by the Secretary of
State may prove helpful in understanding the dilemmas and crises pre-
sented by these events and policies applied to solve the problems

presented by the intervention. .
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The purpose of this paper is to make a comprehensive study of the
diplomatic policies of Secretary of State William H. Seward in regard
to the European intervention in Mexico in 1861. An attempt will be
made to develop a thorough examination of the techniques, policies, and
results of the diplomacy of Secretary Seward in dealing primarily with
the French intervention and establishment of an empire in Mexico headed

by the Archduke Ferdinand Maximilian of Austria.



CHAPTER II
BACKGROUND OF THE FRENCH INTERVENTION IN MEXICO

United States foreign ministers sounded warnings between the
years 1850-1861 of European designs to intervene in the affairs of
Mexico and establish a monarchial government designed for the interests
of the European nations. One of the first of these warnings was that
of Alfred Conkling, Minister to Mexico, who in November, 1852, re-
ported what he considered reliable information that England and France
had entered into a secret convention to extort from Mexico the manage-
ment of its custom houses and collect debts due French and English sub-
jects and of excluding United States influence and interference in
Mexican affairs.l Another such warning was issued in 1853 by Consul
John Black, who reported that Santa Anna was making alliances with
England, France, and Spain in order to check the growth of the United
States.2

European nations assumed a more aggressive attitude toward Mexico
during 1856. England and Spain presented demands on Mexico. There
was a belief by the United States Minister, James Gadsden, that France's
ulterior purpose was to establish a puppet government in Mexico favor-
able to the French or to involve Spain and Mexico in a war which would
eventually give France a plausible excuse to intervene.

United States diplomats in Mexico continued to warn of possible
European intervention. The United States Minister to Mexico, John
Forsyth, made repeated warnings during 1857 about European designs to

establish a protectorate over Mexico and exclude United States influence
3
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in Latin America.b The United States Minister to Mexico, Robert McLane
also made repeated warnings in 1860, that European designs were to
intervene in Mexico to curb the influence of the United States and
eventually seize all the Central American States.5

Thomas Corwin, the United States Minister to Mexico beginning in
1861, also warned of European desires to exclude the influence of the
United States in Mexico. Mr. Corwin believed that Mexico might be
split into small political states, each weak and prone to ask for
European help. He described England, France, and Spain as each having
wishes to intervene for various reasons. England desired intervention
for commercial interests of the Mexican Gulf States and the Western
coast. Spain wanted to re-establish her lost American colonies. Mr.
Corwin stated that he had seen in creditable journals and heard state-
ments that England and France had under consideration the project of
1ntervention.6

There were several attempts made on the part of the United States
government to thwart these European designs of intervention. The
United States first sought to strengthen the Mexican government by
intervening and giving economic aid to Mexico. Later, the Washington
government considered making Mexico a United States protectorate.
During President James Buchanan's administration, many attempts were
made to save Mexico from foreign intervention. John Forsyth, the United
States Minister to Mexico, pursued a policy to prevent European inter-
ference in Mexico. In reporting the danger of war between Mexico and
Spain, Mr. Forsyth wrote to Secretary of State Lewis Cass:

There are many eventualities to such a contest once begun

which the United States cannot be indifferent spectators. The
triumph of Spain here would be the triumph of principles,
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opinions and purposes wholly at variance with the interests and
settled policy of the United States. With that moral and finan-
cial support which she can get from the United States, there is
room to hope that Mexico might emerge from a successful conflict
with her old oppressor, improved and strengthened by the ordeal.
After several unsuccessful attempts to negotiate the purchase of

territory and transit rights from Mexico, Mr. Forsyth urged that the
obvious duty of the United States was to resort to the argument of com-
pulsion to induce Mexico to meet her obligations to the United Sfates,
which would enable the United States to secure territory since Mexico
was unable to pay cash and would have to cede territory. Mr. Forsyth
wanted to make ultimate demands on Mexico and urged the Government
should accept a protectorate for Mexico and should also select the head
of the Mexican government.8 Accepting the recommendations of Mr.
Forsyth, President Buchanan, in his annual message to Congress in 1858,
proposed to take over parts of Mexico. Referring to the weak Mexican
local governments and consequent disorders along the United States-
Mexico boundary, and recognizing the futility of attempts to secure
indemnity of claims, President Buchanan contemplated reprisal by occu-
pation of portions of the unsettled territories. Mr. Buchanan proposed
a temporary protectorate by military possession over the northern part
of Chihuahua and Sonora.9 In President Buchanan's annual message of
1859, he once again asked for authority to send a military force into
Mexico to aid in the establishment of a constitutional government, and
obtain redress of grievances committed against the United States.10
Mr. Buchanan was relying on alarming reports sent to him by various
ministers he had sent to Mexico during his adminlstration. Most of

these ministers were alarmed at the possibility of foreign intervention.

Consul John Black wrote a letter in 1859 from Mexico advising the United
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States government to seize the castle of San Juan de Ulua to prevent
its caputre by the French.11

The new Minister to Mexico, Robert McLane negotiated a treaty
known as the McLane-Ocampo Treaty in December, 1859, which would have
given the United States transit and commercial rights in certain areas
of Mexico with the power to intervene in protecting the property of the
United States within these areas. This treaty was proposed by Mr. McLane
to establish a constitutional government in Mexico and enforce the treaty
stipulations and would have enabled the United States government to in-
tervene and destroy anti-United States elements in Mexico, destroying
anarchy and thwarting European excuses for intervention, while making
Mexico a virtual protectorate of the United States.12 The Senate re-
jected this treaty on May 31, 1860, nuliifying McLane's attempt to pre-
vent European intervention in Mexico. The Senate rejection of this
treaty was in part due to the increased sectional strife in the United
States during this period. Most Northerners unjustly feared this was a
plot by slave interests to extend their territory.l3

Several causes and excuses existed for the European intervention
in Mexico in 1861. Mexican debts to the European governments, European
intrigue to establish a monarchial government in Mexico, and the in-
ternal strife of the United States combined to bring about European in-
tervention.

Europe as a whole was extremely jealous of the successful democ-
racy established in the United States, an upstart nation which was viewed
with alarm because of her rapid expansion. England wanted more trade
with Latin America, and her loans to Mexico constituted a large measure

of her means of commercial infiltration. The French were seeking to



establish a Latin American empire and wanted to restrict the trade
prosperity and the areas of trade of the United States. Spain still
cherished the hope of renewed relationship with what had once been her
best province. Since the United States was now involved in a Civil
War, the moment appeared right for intervention.l4 With the election
of Abraham Lincoln in 1860, the Southern states seceded from the Union.
It appeared that a disorder of major proportions was about to ensue, for
how long, or how intense, no one knew. The fact was, it would render
the United States in a weak position to stop the European powers from
intervention in Mexico.15

Before President Benito Jugrez suspended payment of Mexican debts
to the European countries for a two year period, there were two Mexican
exiles in Europe seeking to bring about the intervention. They were
Josd Estrada and Jose Manuel Hidalgo. There had always been a strong
monarchial faction in Mexico. The clerical faction thought a monarchy
would be a bulwark for the church, if united together. It was General
Juan Almonte who gained the ear of Napoleon III while Sézbrs Estrada
and Hidalgo impressed upon the French Empress FEugenie the idea of in-
tervention. Strengthened by an alliance with Spain and England,
Napoleon was more willing to go along with the intervention and de-
sired to make the Mexican empire an ally or even a protectorate of his
own for the benefit of French trade and political supremacy.16 It has
been said that the French Empress told Senor Estrada and Senor Hidalgo

in 1857 that she had often thought of how nice it would be to have a
Mexican throne for France.17

The idea of a united intervention in Mexico was proposed to France

by Alejandro Mon, the Spanish Ambassador at Paris, in November, 1858,



for the purpose of establishing a firm government in Mexico. The
Spanish Foreign Minister Calderdn Collantes and Mr. Mon kept up corre-
spondence during 1859 on the matter, agreeing that it was a necessary
move but would require moral persuasion and diplomacy. Spain, after
repeatedly sounding out England and France, found them ready in April,
1860, to effect a combination for establishing a firm, united govern-
ment which all the members of the distracted Mexico should recognize
and obey.18
England and France accepted in principle the Spanish idea of
intervening in the disordered affair of Mexico. They believed it would
give courage to honorable persons in Mexico and cause them to labor in
favor of the establishment of a strong government.19 The Spaniards
thought the mere announcement of the formation of such a government
would cause all the Mexican conservatives to rally around it and co-
operate in the plan. The constitution to be imposed upon Mexico was
drawn up in Spain in May, 1860, and sent to England and France for ap-
proval. The Spanish scheme met with a cool reception in England. The
English attitude was that no force should be used in imposing an out-
side government upon Mexico, who must willingly accept any new govern-
ment. England desired the protestant form of worship guaranteed, which
Spain did not. The French agreed to a friendly intervention.zo Napoleon
was reluctant to follow the Spanish plan without British approval,
fearing he might be opposed by both England and the United States. Tem-
porarily, the plan was set aside.21
Spain, not receiving help from England or France, took up the

project alone by entering Mexican waters with a fleet in 1860, only to

be met with hostility from the United States, which then had a naval
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fleet off Vera Cruz. Responding to the Spanish action, on September 2,
1860, Secretary of State Cass notified the Spanish minister that the
"United States will regret any unjust claim against Mexico, and will
not permit any hostility against the legitimate govermment of the Re-
public of Mexico.”22

Spain, fearful of war with the United States without help from
England and France, and due to other involvements in Europe, postponed
the planned invasion. It was evident by August, 1861, that the United
States Government was so implicated in internal problems of secession
that she could no longer maintain this attitude toward foreign inter-
vention. Spanish Minister Mon wrote to the Spanish Foreign Minister
Calderéﬁ Collantes that he considered the time right for placing a
Bourbon Prince on the throne of Mexico.23

The failure of Mexico to repay debts owed to foreign nations was
another cause of the European intervention in Mexico. Mexico had been
in a state of Civil War for many years and its monetary resources were
exhausted. Not only were the debts a cause of the intervention but
actually gave Spain and France an excuse to intervene and carry out
their schemes. England was principally interested in settling her
claims, which grew out of outrages against British subjects, destruction
of property, and seizure of British funds during the Miram&h government.
Both liberal and conservative factions had seized British funds. The
British government offered to recognize the Judrez government if he
could establish himself in Mexico City and assume responsibility for
the seizures. President Judrez agreed and recognized British claims to
the extent of $69,994,542.24

The Spanish claims were for outrages, unkept conventions, and the
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expulsion of Spaniards from Mexico. Most of these arose from the Mon-
Almonte treaty, which had obligated Mexico to assume responsibility for
claims by Spanish subjects because of outrages and forced loans which
had occurred under the Santa Anna government. President Judrez recog-
nized Spanish claims to the extent of ten million pesos.

The French claims against Mexico for robberies, murders, and out-
rages against French citizens were dealt with in the conventions of
1851 and 1853, whereby several million dollars were recognized as just
obligations. Another claim involved J. B. Jecker, a Swiss who had ar-
ranged in 1859 to lend fifteen million dollars on a bond issue, and
Mexico was to pay back $16,800,000. Mr. Jecker paid only $1,470,000 to
Mexico on the bond and went bankrupt before completing it. Mr. Jecker
gained French citizenshipthrough a relative of Napoleon III and passed
the note to the French government to collect. President Juérez would
recognize only obligations to the extent of the actual money received.26

Mexico's Civil Wars had left the treasury bankrupt, therefore, on
July 17, 1861, the Mexican ministry under President Juarez passed a law
suspending payment on foreign debts for a period of two years. The act
was protested by France and Spain immediately.27 The suspension of pay-
ment on foreign debts was the excuse France and Spain needed to justify
intervention in order to accomplish their intentions of establishing a
monarchy in Mexico.

Upon learning of the suspension of debts by Mexico, the new
United States Minister to Mexico, Thomas Corwin, urged the United States
government to assume the interest on the debts which amounted to about
sixty-two million dollars. The interest would have been about two

million dollars yearly for five years. Mr. Corwin proposed that if



11
Mexico could not repay at the end of this period, she would pledge
territory to cover the loan. The anticipation of foreign intervention
was suggested in this letter to Mr. Seward. Mimnister Corwin was at-
tempting to prevent excuses for foreign intervention. England and
France terminated diplomatic relations with the Judrez government and
threatened retaliation by seizure of Mexican customhouses. Mr. Corwin
believed it was the duty of the United States to prevent the European
aims of intervention.28

Secretary of State Seward responded by authorizing Mr. Corwin to
negotiate with Mexico a treaty by which the United States government
would assume interest on the debts of sixty-two million dollars plus
three percent per annum for a period of five years. The Washington
government would charge Mexico six percent interest with a lien upon
public lands and mineral rights in Lower California, Chihuahua, Sonora,
and Sinoala. If Mexico could not pay the loan after six years, the
land would become United States property.29 This proposal by Secretary
Seward was designed to prevent European intervention and maintain the
Republican government in Mexico. Mr. Seward's proposal was designed
to prevent Mexico from falling under the influence of parties favorable
to the Confederate States.

Mr. Seward's proposal to assume the interest on Mexican debts was
not acceptable to the European nations. France, England, and Spain
entered into a convention on October 31, 1861, to compel Mexico to ful-
fill its obligations. The London Convention preamble stated that the
parties had been placed under a necessity for exacting a more effective
protection for the persons and properties of their subjects due to the

arbitrary and vexatious conduct of the authorities of the Republic of
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Mexico. The first article of the convention arranged for the parties
to send land and sea forces to seize fortresses and military positions
on the Mexican Gulf Coast. The second article bound the parties not
to seek for themselves by coercive measures and territory or peculiar
advantage and not to exercise in the affairs of Mexico any influence
or character to impair the right of the Mexican people to choose and
freely to constitute the form of its own government. The third article
provided for a commission to determine all questions arising from em-
ployment and distribution of the money, which was to be recovered from
Mexico. The parties agreed by the fourth article to invite the United
States to join in the convention and subsequent action.30
The United States was asked to join in carrying out the objects
of the convention, which was principally due to British insistence,
since England feared the attitude the United States government might
take. France and Spain merely agreed to pacify England. Both France
and Spain had ulterior designs as the French Minister Billault said
that the French and Spanish were waiting to attempt the organization
of a government in Mexico suited to monarchial ideas.31 Mr. Seward
declined the offer to join with the European powers in the intervention
and once more asked the powers to refrain from action pending the
United States treaty to assume the interest on the Mexican debts and
avert the war. All Seward's efforts failed to avert the intervention.32
News reached Vera Cruz in November, 1861, of Spanish preparations
in Havana for the intervention. There was nothing left for Juérez, the
President of Mexico, to do but prepare for defense. He first issued

orders to strengthen Vera Cruz and San Juan de Ulua but later decided

/
to move the main defense inland to a more defensive site. Juarez
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attempted to negotiate conventions to settle the debts, but he failed
to gain the approval of the Mexican Congress.33 The triparte invasion
began December 14, 1861, when a Spanish fleet prematurely sailed into
and occupied Vera Cruz without opposition. The Spanish continéent con-
sisted of about six thousand men. They were followed by England and
France in early January, 1862, with about seven hundred British marines
and three thousand French troops. England furnished battleships énd
most of the naval division but fewer troops.34

The invasion met with no hostility or with any representatives
of the liberal government of Jus}ez. The plenipotentiares appointed
by the various participants were: Sir Charles Wyke and Commodore Hugh
Dunlap, on the part of England; Dubois de Saligny and Rear Admiral
Jurien de la Graviere, on the part of France; and General Juan Prim,
conde de Reus and Marques de los Castillejos, represented Spain both
as diplomats and commanders of her forces.35

It became apparent that no debts could be collected without a
march into the interior, but this was not a part of the convention
plan. The commissioners of the three intervening powers decided to
meet in Vera Cruz to determine a course of procedure. Nothing worthy
of notice occurred at the conferences till the pecuniary claims were
made the subject of consideration. At the third conference, January
13, 1862, Saligny, the French plenipotentiary, failed to appear and
Admiral Jurien read the French ultimatum consisting of ten articles;
some of which were incompatible with Mexican independence and sover-
eignty.36 Mexico insisted that the first French claim of twelve
million dollars be settled by a mixed commission of the four nations

involved. The J. B. Jecker claim of fifteen million dollars was declared
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inadmissible by the Spanish and British representatives. This refusal
to support Mr. Saligny's Jecker claim suspended the transmission of the
collective note and ultimatum. A new note had to be drawn up. Manuel
Doblado, the Mexican negotiator, answered the note and invited the
parties to go to Orizaba with an honor guard of two thousand troops
where they would be treated honorably and could be inland from the
nmalaria infested coastal region. Mr. Doblado asked the rest of the
allied troops to re-embark, promising that all just claims would be
recognized and legal validity would be given to the pending Orizaba
conference.37

The allied parties refused to re-embark and informed the Mexican
government of their intention of marching toward Jalapa and Orizaba to
secure a healthier locality for the troops.38 It was agreed that Mr.
Doblado would meet General Prim on February 18, 1862, and they signed
a convention on February 19, at the town of Soledad as a preliminary
to the negotiations to be conducted. By this convention, the allied
forces were to occupy territory inland from the coast which would be
healthier, with the condition that in the event of a rupture of rela-
tions, the allies were to retreat back to Vera Cruz. The convention
was ratified by all parties concerned. In this way, Mr. Doblado se-
cured the recognition of Judrez as the legal government and the inde-
pendence and sovereignty of Mexico by this convention. Mexico's
ability to manage her own internal affairs was admitted by the allies.
Mr. Doblado's diplomacy was considered a masterpiece since the French
would have to ignore every principle of honor and decency in order to
39

carry out their scheme.

The situation changed drastically at the conference of Orizaba.
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The triple alliance was dissolved and each of the allies announced a
resolution to adopt separate action. France had sent a new detachment
of forty-five hundred troops under the Comte de Lorencez with new in-
structions from Napoleon, who was bent upon establishing Maximilian of
Austria on the throne of Mexico. The French had sent Mexican mon-
archist General Almonte to promote the downfall of the Juérez govern-—
ment so it might be easier to gain control of the government. Mr.
Saligny, the French Plenipotentiary, completely ignored the London Conven-
tion and Preliminaries de la Soledad.l‘0

The rupture of relations at Orizaba was caused by the French
protection extended to General Almonte and other leading Mexican mon-
archists who had been banished from the country. The Mexican govern-
ment demanded that Almonte be removed from French protection since he
was conspiring to promote rebellion against the Mexican government.
The French ministers refused to recognize the London Convention and
take part in the conferences arranged at Soledad. Mr. Saligny main-
tained that France now could be appeased only by a march on Mexico City.
The British and Spanish representatives concurred with the Mexican de-
mands of removal of the Mexican monarchist from French protection and
notified Mr. Doblado that they had resolved to re-embark their forces.
Mr. Doblado, upon receiving this announcement, commended the British and
Spanish representatives and signified his readiness to conclude a treaty
to settle all pending questions.41

France was now left to its own devices by the withdrawal of Great
Britain and Spain. The French army refused to evacuate Orizaba ac-
cording to Article V of the Preliminaries de la Soledad. General

Almonte assumed the title of "Supreme Chief of the Nation' and began
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to organize a government. Soon after, General Elie Frederic Forey
assumed command under orders of Napoleon III to carry out the French
schemes of establishing a monarchy in Mexico.l'2

Napoleon's intentions and plans were clearly shown in his letter
to General Forey, when he stated that the end to be attained was not
the imposition of a form of government distasteful to the Mexicans but
to help establish one in conformity to their wishes which would have
some chance of stability. Napoleon iterated that if the people pre-
ferred a monarchy, aid them to the best interest of France. Napoleon
further stated that it was to the best interests of France that the
United States should not grasp or control the entire Gulf of Mexico,
South America, and Caribbean Islands. He feared the United States
could become the sole dispenser of New World products, which were vital
to the French economy. By establishing French influence in North
America, it would allow for immense outlets for French commerce and
provide necessary materials for her industry. Napoleon believed the
best policy was to establish monarchial government in Mexico if possible
and at least a government which promised stability and favorable senti-
ment toward France.43

The French troops gradually extended their military operations
with the arrival of more French troops, thereby occupying more terri-
tory. General Forey organized a junta in June, 1863, which consisted
of two hundred fifty notables. This assembly was to draw up plans for
a permanent government. The French army occupied Mexico City by July
10, 1863. A decree was issued by the assembly on July 11, 1863, for-
mally establishing the monarchial government Napoleon had schemed to

establish.“a This decree contained four main provisions: first, it
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adopted a limited hereditary monarchy with a Catholic prince; second,
the Sovereign would assume the title of "Emperor of Mexico'; third, the
Crown was formally offered to Maximilian; fourth, it empowered Napoleon
III to choose another emperor if Maximilian declined.l‘5

After considerable hesitation, Maximilian formally accepted the
offer of the Mexican throne on April 10, 1864. Maximilian's acceptance
came in the belief that a majority of the Mexican people wanted him.
This belief was held by Maximilian after a plebiscite was held primarily
within conservative areas of Mexico which supported a monarchy and were
at that time under the military control of the Foench army. The French
attempt to establish a monarchial government was successful in gaining
the title. The question remained if Maximilian could maintain his
title in view of the certain success of the Union army of the United
States against the Confederacy and the increasing belligerent attitude
of the United States against the Maximilian government coupled with the
failure of the French and conservative forces to subdue the liberals

of Jugrez.
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CHAPTER III
THE EARLY DIPLOMACY OF SECRETARY SEWARD

William H. Seward became Secretary of State of the United States
in 1861. Mr. Seward's political career had been characterized by an
ardent desire for the expansion of the national boundaries of the
United States. The danger of European intervention in American affairs
was probably the biggest problem encountered by Secretary Seward during
the eight years of his service. Mr. Seward not only faced the possi-
bility of European intervention in American affairs but also a dis-
rupted union brought about by the United States Civil War. His career
as Secretary of State bagan with an aggressive policy in dealing with
foreign relations, which was first seen in his famous "Thoughts", pro-
posed to President Lincoln in 1861.

I would demand explanations from Spain and France cate-
gorically, at once.
I would seek explanations from Great Britain and Russia,

and send agents into Canada, Mexico, and Central America, to

rouse a vigorous continental spirit of independence on this

continent against European intervention.

And, 1f satisfactory explanations are not received from
Spain and France,

Would convene Congress and declare war against them.

But whatever policy we adopt, there must be an energetic
prosecution of it.

For this purpose it must be somebody's business to pursue
and direct it incessantly.
Mr. Seward proposed to reunite the Union by substituting the Monroe
Doctrine for the slavery question and to prevent foreign intervention
by organizing a continental crusade on the American continents

against European powers threatening intervention.

Another aspect of this aggressive policy was shown in his
21
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anxiety over the possibility of Spanish intervention in Santo Domingo.
In a note to the Spanish minister at Washington, ézhor Gabriel Tassara,
Mr. Seward strongly protested Spain's action regarding Santo Domingo:
"This reported attempt cannot fail to be taken as a first step in a
policy of armed intervention by the Spanish govermment in the American
countries which once constituted Spanish America, but have since a-
chieved their independence.”2 Secretary Seward reminded Mr. Tassara
that the United States had respected the Spanish title to Cuba largely
because it had expected the Catholic Kingdom not to become an aggressive
neighbor. Mr. Seward concluded:

I am directed to inform you and also the government of His

Majesty in a direct manner, that if they should be found to have

received at any time the sanction of that government, the

President will be obliged to regard them as manifesting an un-

friendly spirit toward the United States, and to meet the further

prosecution of enterprises of that kind in regard to either the

Dominican Republic or any other part of the American Continent

or islands with a prompt, persistent and if possible, effective

resistance.

Mr. Seward immediately communicated with the ministers of Mexico,
Guatemala, E1 Salvador, Nicaragua, Costa Rica, Honduras, and New
Granada and enclosed a copy of his note to Mr. Tassara. In the note
he sent to Matias Romero, the Mexican Minister to Washington, he wrote:

I am . . . instructed by the President to suggest for your

consideration the propriety of bringing the subject to the

notice of the government of Mexico to the end that it may

adopt such measures in this exigency as the safety and welfare

of the respective States existing on the American continent,

and itz islands, including perhaps Mexico, shall seem to re-

quire.

This note to Mr. Tassara clearly displayed an aggressive policy adopted
by Seward. It was virtually an ultimatum to Spain to stay out of Santo

Domingo and was a clear warning to abstain from intervention in any of

the American countries.



23

Another manifestation of Seward's aggressive policy was his
instructions to Thomas Corwin, the new Minister to Mexico. Secretary
Seward directed him not to press for a settlement of claims against
Mexico but to call attention to the aggressive designs of the Confederacy
and Europe; to give assurance of the desire of the United States govern-
ment for Mexico to retain its complete integrity and sovereignty; to
oppose recognition of the Confederacy; and to impress upon Mexican
statesmen that the United States Civil War was a great concern to all
republican nations, since Mexico was concerned with the same. Mr. Seward
remarked that the American states held a common attitude and relation
toward all other nations. It would be in the interest of all of them
to be friends since they were neighbors, and they should mutually main-
tain and support each other as far as would be consistent with each's
individual sovereignty against all disintegrating agencies within

and foreign influences without.5

In this letter Seward's aggressive
policy may be traced back to his '"Thoughts" proposed to President
Lincoln. Mr. Seward was once again proposing an American alliance
against foreign intervention and domestic insurrection. Secretary Seward
believed that the American states had a common interest in maintaining
and supporting each other against domestic and foreign influences.
Secretary Seward's aggressiveness was also obvious in his in-
structions to Thomas Corwin regarding Confederate designs upon Lower
California, Sonora, and Chihuahua. Mr. Seward notified Mr. Corwin
that the commanders of the land and naval forces of the United States
on the Pacific were to be authorized to prevent Confederate violations

of Mexican territory and sovereignty and directed him to encourage the

government of Mexico to an energetic effort in defense of its sovereignty
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and to ask consent for the intervention of the United States forces
if they should be needed. Mr. Corwin was to assure Mexico that the
United States government did not desire the acquisition of any Mexican
soil, but would be willing to purchase Lower California, or part of it
rather than seeing it inevitably fall into the hands of the Confeder-
acy.

Secretary Seward's early foreign policy was clearly aggressive and
defiant toward Europe. Along with many others, he did not realize how
long and difficult the Civil War in the United States would last. Most
of his colleagues believed it would be of short duration. After the
first battle of Bull Run, in which the Union army was routed and severe-
ly demoralized, the most critical stage of the Civil War ensued. Mr.
Seward was forced to change this defiant policy to meet the crisis.
Foreign relations were in a critical state, and Mr. Seward began to
adopt a different policy from his earlier aggressive approach and
gradually assumed a policy of moderation, which concerning Mexican
affairs was first seen in a circular letter pertaining to an aggressive
policy as proposed by H. R. La Reintrie on December 29, 1860. Mr.

La Reintrie had been sent by the United States Minister to Mexico, Robert
McLane, to deny a report that the United States government desired the
continuance of the Civil War in Mexico and to make clear the United
States policy in regard to the Civil War in Mexico. Mr. La Reintrie
sent a circular letter to the leading representatives of the European
powers in Mexico in which he declared:

The United States has determined to resist any forcible

attempt to impose a particular adjustment of the existing con-

flict against the will and sanction of the people of Mexico,

and also, any forcible intervention by any power which looks
to the contrcl of any political destiny thereof. . . . The
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government of the United States does not deny to the European
powers the right to wage honorable warfare for a sufficient
cause, anywhere, or against any nation: nor does it deny their
right to demand redress for injuries inflicted on their re-
spective subjects . . . but it does deny them the right to
interfere directly, or indirectly with the political inde-
pendence of the Republic of Mexico, and it will to the ex-
tent of its powers, defend the nationality and independence

of said republic.7

This policy, Minister McLane hoped would become the official policy
followed by Secretary Seward, and it did resemble Mr. Seward's early
aggressive policies. With the complications of the Civil War in the
United States, Mr. Seward refused to commit his government to the
opinions of Mr. La Reintrie, by direction of Mr. McLane, expressed
in this circular letter.
Mr. Seward's refusal to acknowledge this policy was displayed
in a letter to Thomas Corwin which indicated the change from his early
defiant policy to one of moderation. With reference to the La Reintrie
manifesto, Mr. Seward wrote:
I am very sure this government cherishes the actual in-
dependence of Mexico as a cardinal object to the exclusion
of all foreign political intervention . . . yet the present
moment does not seem to me an opportune one for formal re-
assurance of the policy of the government to foreign nations.
Prudence requires that in order to surmount the evils of
faction at home we should not unnecessarily provoke debates
with foreign countries, but rather repair as speedily gs
possible the prestige which those evils have impaired.
This letter was among the first of several indications of change in
Secretary Seward's policy toward Mexico. Mr. Seward affirmed the
United States government's desire for Mexican independence and freedom
from foreign political interference but refused to commit his govern-
ment to the policies set forth in the La Reintrie circular. Secretary

Seward's letter to Mr. Corwin also showed an increased concern for

domestic problems which his government had encountered in the early
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stages of the Civil War in the United States. Circumstances demanded
that Mr. Seward avoid international issues and domestic problems at
the same time in order to meet the immediate crisis at home.

On Thomas Corwin's arrival in Mexico as envoy extraordinary and
minister plenipotentiary, he promptly reported that Mexico was in
great need of money to meet the demands of England, France, and Spain
for payment of debts and to establish a permanent government which
could prevent disruption of the country. Mr. Corwin suggested to
Secretary Seward that the United States purchase Lower California to
save Mexico from partition and subjugation by Europe. Mr. Corwin's
first concern was to prevent European intervention which he foresaw;
he believed the Mexican states would be broken up and used against
the interest of the United States.9 England, France, and Spain termi-
nated diplomatic relations with Mexico due to President Juérez's sus-
pension of the payment of debts to them. The three European nations
were preparing to resort to seizure of the ports of Tampico and Vera
Cruz. Mr. Corwin urged that it was the duty of the United States
government to prevent the European powers from intervening in American
affairs. Mr. Corwin recommended that the United States government,
with proper pledge of territory as a guarantee, arrange to negotiate
a loan to pay the interest on the Mexican debt for a period of five
years. Mr. Corwin believed the United States, as the only safe
guardian of independence and true civilization of the continent, would
be benefited in all time to come by helping Mexico.10

With the purpose of preventing foreign intervention and probable
disruption of Mexico, Secretary Seward authorized Minister Corwin to

negotiate the proposed treaty for assuming the payment of the interest
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on the Mexican debt at three percent interest on the funded debt for
a period of five years from the date the debts were suspended, pro-
vided the Mexican government pledged to repay six percent interest
with a lien upon all the public lands and mineral rights of Lower
California, Chihuahua, Sonora, and Sinaloa. This property would have
become absolute property of the United States after six years, if such
reimbursement was not made before that time. The treaty was condi-
tional upon consent of England and France to forbear to a resort to
action on account of Mexican failure to pay the interest until after
the treaty had been submitted to the United States Senate for ratifi-
cation.11 In proposing this treaty, the Lincoln administration was
doubtless influenced to some extent to circumvent the plans of the
Southern Confederacy to secure recognition from Mexico and to induce
the Mexican government to refuse to grant permission for the transit
of United States troops from Guaymas to Arizona.12

One of the important motives behind the proposed treaty was the
desire to remove what was thought to be a strong provocation for
European intervention in Mexico resulting from President Juarez's
suspension of the payment of debts to the European nations. However,
Mr. Corwin pointed out some interesting sidelights of the treaty which
would have been advantageous to the United States and, in reference to
the lien upon the public lands, remarked: 'This would probably end in
the cession of sovereignty to us. It would be certain to end thus if

n13 Mr. Corwin believed

the money were not promptly paid as agreed on.
Lower California would be essential to the protection of Pacific pos-
sessions, and would extinguish all Southern hopes of extending their

dominions into Mexico and Central Ametica.la Mr. Corwin revealed
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another aspect of the mortgage on the Mexico public lands by maintaining
that it would justify the United States in meeting the Conferates on
these lands and helping Mexico to expel them, since the United States
would have a mortgage on the public domain and the right to intervene
and protect its interests.15 Regarding the Board of Commissioners
which would take charge of the pledged lands, Mr. Corwin remarked on
another occasion that because some of the commissioners would be United
States citizens, this would attract purchases from the United States
and, being dispersed among the Mexican people, would teach them lessons
in morals, religion, and politics. Mr. Corwin believed the United
States had done more to weaken Mexico than all the other nations com-
bined and that the United States should extend a helping hand, as the
results of Mexican trade showed the United States had gotten very little
commercial benefit from Mexico due to past policies of aggression to-
ward Mexico. Mr. Corwin remarked: 'Let it be remembered that Mexico
is our neighbor, and enlightened self interest requires that we should
not be indifferent to the welfare of such."16 Mr. Corwin also pointed
out to Secretary Seward the possibility of disposing of some of these
public lands by colonizing the free Negroes in connection with Presi-
dent Lincoln's plans. Mr. Corwin believed the Negroes would not be
subjected to racial or political discrimination in Mexico.17

Secretary Seward, hoping to satisfy foreign creditors through his
loan policy, heard of rumors of the proposed tripartite expedition to
make demands on Mexico and wrote William Dayton, United States Minister
to France, that the United States looked with deep concern on the
threatened expedition and that he was not unwilling to use his offices

to prevent it. Secretary Seward was anxious to prevent any further
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complications, even though France disclaimed all ideas of territorial
acquisition.18 Secretary Seward, before negotiating the proposed
treaty, sought to obtain an agreement from the English and French
governments to refrain from operations concerning the expedition until
President Lincoln could submit the treaty to the United States Senate
for ratification. Objections to Seward's plan for paying the interest
on the Mexican debt were sounded both in Paris and London. The French
Minister of State, M. Thouvenel, said: "It might not be possible to
prevent the United States offering money to Mexico or to prevent Mexico
receiving money from the United States, but neither England nor France
ought in any way recognize the transaction."19 In response to Seward's
proposed treaty, Lord Earl Lyons declared:

That her majesty's government were as apprehensive as

Mr. Seward himself could be, of an attempt to build upon a

foundation of debts due, and injuries inflicted, by Mexico,

a pretension to establish a new government in that country.

Her majesty's government thought, however that the most ef-

fectual mode of guarding against this danger would be for

Great Britain, the United States, and France to join Spain

in a course of action, the objects and limits of which should

be distinctly defined beforehand. This certainly appeared

more prudent than to allow Spain to act alone now, and after-

wards to opBBSe the results of her operations, if she should

go too far.

Lord Lyons suggested that the dangers of intervention could best
be avoided by joint co-operation on the part of the United States,
England, France, and Spain in some policy.

Even Charles F. Adams, United States Minister to England, did
not approve Secretary Seward's plan to assume the Mexican debt as he
explained:

The view customarily taken in Europe is that their govern-
ment is disposed to resist all foreign intervention in Mexico,

not upon any principle, but simply because it is self expecting,
in due course of time, to absorb the whole country for its own
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benefit. Hence any proposal like that which I had the honor
to receive, based upon the mortgage of portions of Mexican
territory as security for engagements entered into by the
United States, naturally becomes the ground of any outcry
that this is but the preliminary to any entry for inevitable

foreclosure. And then follows the argument that if this pro-
cess be legitimate in one case, why not equally in all. . . .

21

Secretary Seward's proposed loan treaty was doomed to failure in
spite of his efforts to secure approval. While Mr. Corwin was still
in negotiation with the Mexican government, the United States Senate
in reply to two successive messages of the President, passed a reso-
lution, FebruaryIZS, 1862, expressing the opinion: "that it is not
advisable to negotiate a treaty that will require the United States
to assume any portion of the principle or interest of the debt of
Mexico, or that will require the concurrence of European powers."22
This put an end to Mr. Seward's proposed treaty. It is doubtful the
European parties would have accepted the proposed plan of Mr. Seward,
since England, France, and Spain had already entered an agreement, the
London Convention, on October 31, 1861, for the purpose of securing
their rights.

The fourth article of the London Convention provided 'that im-
mediately after the signing of the present convention, a copy of it
shall be communicated to the government of the United States, that

that government shall be invited to accede to it. . . ."23

Mr. Seward
declined to cooperate in the expedition stating that he did not ques-
tion the right of the parties to decide for themselves the fact whether
they had sustained grievances, and the resorting to war against Mexico
for the redress thereof. Mr. Seward also stated that the United States

and the parties themselves had a deep interest that neither of the

parties should seek or obtain any acquisition of territory or any
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advantage peculiar to itself. Also, neither of the parties, or as a
whole, should exercise in the affairs of Mexico any influence of a
character to impair the Mexican people to choose freely and constitute
the form of their own government. Mr. Seward went on to say that it
was true the United States had claims to urge on Mexico but was of
the opinion it would be inexpedient to seek satisfaction of these
claims at that time. Mr. Seward stated that the United States pre-
ferred to adhere to its traditional policy of avoiding alliances with
foreign nations. Mexico, being a member nation of the North American
Continent with a system of government similar to the government of the
United States in many features, the United States cherished a good will
toward that Republic and a lively interest in its security, prosperity,
and welfare. Due to these sentiments Mr. Seward believed a resort to
forcible remedies for its claims at a time when Mexico was deeply dis-
turbed by internal troubles and exposed to war with foreign nations
was not justifiable. In the last part of the declination, Seward re-
ferred to the fact that the United States government was then seeking
to enter a treaty with Mexico to concede some material aid which he
hoped would enable Mexico to satisfy claims of the European nations to
avert war, which they had agreed upon to levy against Mexico.z4

In pursuance of the London Convention, Vera Cruz was occupied in
the early part of 1862 by first the Spanish, and later English and
French. Until this time, the three European parties had disclaimed
any political designs against Mexico, claiming that they sought only a
redress of grievances. Mr. Seward, in his official communication with
his foreign ministers had accepted all disclaims of political designs

on the part of the allies. However, the first intimation of the real
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purposes of Napoleon III was given in the letter of instructions of
Mr. Thouvenel to Admiral Graverie, commander of the French expedition to
Mexico. Mr. Thouvenel said that in case of a withdrawal of the Mexican
forces from the coast into the interior of the country, an advance upon
the capital might become necessary. He went on to relate:

It might happen that the pressure of the allied forces
upon the soil of Mexico might induce the sane portion of the
people, tired of anarchy, anxious for order and repose, to
attempt an effort to constitute in the country a government
presenting the guarantees of strength stability which have
been wanting to all those which have succeeded each other since
the emancipation.25
Admiral Graverie was told expressly that he was not to refuse the
encouragement. The British government immediately showed concern
and alarm at the French order and instructed Sir Charles Wyke that he
was to decline to take part in any advance into the interior of
Mexico.26 Observing the actions of France with deep concern over the
plans to follow up the Spanish forces with a strong French force, Mr.
Charles F. Adams wrote to Mr. Seward:
It is no longer concealed that the intention is to ad-
vance to the capital, and to establish a firm government,
with the consent of the people, at that place. But who are
meant by that term does not appear. This issue 1is by no means
palatable to the government here, though it is difficult to
imagine that they could have been blind to it. . . . The ex-
pedition to the city of Mexico may not stop until it shows
itself in the heart of the Louisiana purchase.27
This letter to Mr. Seward clearly showed Mr. Adam's alarm as to the
real intentions of France regarding Mexico. His letter also appeared
to absolve England of any ulterior designs in Mexico except to secure
the redress of their grievances as they had already professed. How-

ever, England's position still was not clearly understood by the United

States government. The British policy was better understood by a
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letter written to Sir Charles Wyke stating: "If the Mexican people, by
a spontaneous movement, place the Austrian Archduke on the throne of
Mexico, there is nothing in the convention to prevent it. On the other
hand, we could be no parties to a forcible intervention for this pur-

n28 There had

pose. The Mexicans must consult their own interests.
been rumors circulating that Archduke Ferdinand Maximilian of Austria
would be invited by a group of Mexicans to place himself on the throne
of Mexico. The British government, by this letter to Mr. Wyke, clearly
showed their honest intentions and sincerity, although their policy
was still misunderstood by the United States government as shown in a
letter from Mr. Adams to Mr. Seward: ''Great Britain occupies the post
of holding the door, whilst her two associates, with her knowledge,
go in, fully prepared, if they can, to perpetrate the act which she,
at the outset, made them denounce, at the same time that she disavowed
every idea of being made to participate in it."z9

In reply to Mr. Adams in London, Mr. Seward issued a strong state-
ment about European designs:

We have acted and shall continue to act, with frankness

and justice towards the three powers who are invading Mexico,

as well as with liberality to the government of Mexico itself.

We do this distinctly relying on the assurances we have re-

ceived from these powers that they will seek no political ob-

jectives in their invasion. If they should forfeit these

pledges their broken faith would be rewarded with only ser%gus

complications, ending in results disastrous to themselves.

The plenipotentiares of England, France, Spain, and Mexico met
February 19, 1862, at La Soledad to discuss negotiations for the settle-
ment of all claims to be settled at a conference at Orizaba. This con-

ference proved of short duration. The representatives of the allies

announced they had resolved to adopt separate and independent lines of
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action, and British and Spanish forces were immediately withdrawn.
In spite of appearances to the contrary, the French government still
disavowed all designs upon the independence of Mexico. After the
stormy conference at Orizaba, Mr. Thouvenel assured Mr. Dayton that all
France desired was a stable government in Mexico and not an anarchy.

That if the people of that country chose to establish a

republic it was all well; France made no objection. If

they chose to establish a monarchy, as that was the form

of government here, it would be charming, but they did

not mean to do anything to induce such a course of action.

That all rumors that France intended to establish the

Archduke Maximilian_on the throne of Mexico were utterly

without foundation.>?

In this letter Mr. Thouvenel once again disclaimed all designs of in-
terfering in Mexican politics and of establishing Maximilian as em-
peror of Mexico, thereby committing France to an official policy of
non-interference in Mexican internal affairs. France might carry out
a policy to the contrary of its announced intentions, but to avoid a
confrontation with the United States, it would have to act openly
within the realm of its official policy of non-intervention.

The first seven months of 1862 were domestically the most criti-
cal period of the Civil War in the United States and internationally
concerning European interference to help the Confederacy. The United
States Senate had refused to accept the proposed loan treaty in any
form; therefore, it was necessary for Seward to formulate a new policy
to replace his early aggressive policy.33 In response to rumors Mr.
Seward was hearing that France was trying to establish a monarchy in
Mexico, he wrote a circular letter which outlined his new policy. Mr.

Seward wrote:

The President has relied upon the assurance given to this
government by the allies. that they were seeking no political
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objects, and only a redress of grievances. He does not doubt
the sincerity of the allies. . . . The President, however
deems it his duty to express to the allies, in all candor and
frankness, the opinion that no monarchial government which
could be founded in Mexico, in the presence of foreign navies
and armies in the waters and upon the soil of Mexico, would
have any prospect of security or permanence. Secondly, that
the instability of such a monarchy there would be enhanced

if the throne should be assigned to any person not of Mexican
nativity. That under such circumstances the new government
must speedily fall, unless it could draw into its support
European alliances which, . . . would, in fact, make it the
beginning of a permanent policy of armed European monarchial
intervention, injurious and practically hostile to the most
general system of government prevailing on the continent of
America, and this would be the beginning rather than the end-
ing of revolution in Mexico. . . . It is not to be doubted
that the permanent interests and sympathies of this country
would be with the other American republics. It is sufficient
to say that in the President's opinion, the emancipation of
this continent from European control has been the principal
feature in its history during the last century. It is not
probable that a revolution in a contrary direction would be
successful in an immediate succeeding century. . . .34

The second of the documents which set forth Secretary Seward's
new policy was his instructions to William Dayton in Paris. These were
sent to Mr. Dayton after evidence was building up that the French in-
tervention was for the purpose of establishing a monarchy in Mexico.

In his instructions, Mr. Seward wrote:

You will intimate to Mr. Thouvenel that rumors of this
kind have reached the President and awakened some anxiety on
his part.

It will hardly be necessary to do more . . . than to say
that we have more than once . . . informed all the parties
to the alliance that we cannot look with indifference upon
any armed European intervention for political ends in a
country siﬁgated so near and connected with us so closely
as Mexico.

Such was Mr. Seward's Mexican policy in 1862. Mr. Seward in-

formed the French government its intervention was disapproved, but in
such a manner to avoid its active disfavor, while keeping the way clear

for the adaption of a different policy in the future. Gently, politely,
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and tactfully he informed the French that the sympathies of the United
States citizens were opposed to monarchy and its interference in
American hemispheric affairs. Mr. Seward left the impression, offi-
cially at least, that he accepted the French disavowals of political
designs in Mexico as honest and trustworthy, pointing out that they
would be impossible of realization even if they did exist. Mr. Seward's
Mexican policy was founded upon expedience and dictated by commoﬁ sense.
His policy was confronted with a victorious Southern army at home and
a friendly disposition toward the Confederacy from Europe. With evi-
dence of French plans for establishing a monarchy in Mexico before him,
he could afford neither to remain silent, nor to utter a sharp protest.
Mr. Seward continually professed traditional friendship toward France
but did subject France to frequent interrogation, thereby committing
France to a non-interference policy in Mexico. Mr. Seward, suggesting
that the French actions were inconsistent at times repeatedly asked
for reassurance of French motives in Mexico. Secretary Seward's policy
was designed to avoid a direct confrontation with France, at least until
domestic trouble in the United States was solved. His policy suggested
he purposely left the way open for France to deny its designs, so that
in the final confrontation, Mr. Seward could use this basis upon which
to insist upon French withdrawal. At no time did Mr. Seward mention
the Monroe Doctrine. Mr. Seward appeared to have thought it not ex-
pedient to bring it up, for fear of provoking French recognition of
the Confederacy. Between vigorous protest and maintaining silence,
which might have encouraged Napoleon more, there lay a very narrow path
to follow in Seward's policy. Not only did Mr. Seward have the European

diplomats to outwit, but he constantly had to expose himself to
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criticism and opposition domestically over his failure to prevent what

was termed in the United States as a violation of the Monroe Doctrine.36

In spite of France proceeding to take over Mexico under the com-
mand of General Forey after the Spanish and British withdrawal, Secretary
Seward still held to his expedient policy. In a letter to Mr. Dayton
on June 21, 1862, he wrote:

France has a right to make war against Mexico, and to
determine for herself the cause. We have a right and in-
terest to insist that France shall not improve the war she
makes to raise up in Mexico an anti-republican or anti-
American government, or to maintain such a government there.
France has disclaimed such designs, and we, besides reposing
faith in the assurances given in a frank, honorable manner,
would, in any case, be bound to wait for, and not antici-
pate a violation of them. Circumstances tend to excite mis-
apprehensions and jealousies between this government and that
of France, in spite of all the prudence we can practiS?. On
our part, we studiously endeavor to avoid them. . . .

Once again Mr. Seward reasserted his policy of accepting French
assurances that they had no political designs in Mexico, and confirmed
that France had the right to make war, while maintaining a friendly and
cordial understanding that France was not trying to improve the war.
Secretary Seward appeared to purposely disregard rumors that France
had ulterior purposes in order to continue his policy until the time
was much better for a firmer policy. Even after the declaration es-
tablishing the Mexican assembly by General Forey, Secretary Seward ex-
pressed officially the satisfaction of his government of the explana-
tions given by France. In a letter to John Lothrop Motley, on September
11, 1863, Mr. Seward wrote:

When France made war against Mexico, we asked France
explanations of her objects and purposes. She answered,

that it was a war for the redress of grievances; that she

did not intend to permanently occupy or dominate-in Mexico,

and that she would leave to the people of Mexico a free

choice of institutions of .government. Under these circum-
stances the United States adapted . . . entire neutrality
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between the belligerents, in harmony with the traditional
policy in regard to foreign wars. The war has continued
longer than was anticipated. At different stages of it
France has, . . . renewed the explanations before mentioned.

. . . That provisional government has neither made nor sought

to make any communication to the government of the United

States, nor has it been in any way recognized by this govern-

ment. France has made no communication to the United States

concerning the provisional government which has been estab-
lished in llexico, nor has she announced any actual or intended
departure from the policy in regard to that country which her
before-mentioned explanations have authorized us to expect

her to pursue.

Along the same line of general policy Secretary Seward had out-
lined in his previous instructions, he continued to accept the French
assurances of non-interference in Mexican political affairs. lr.
Seward, realizing the powerless position the United States suffered
and unwilling to provoke debates with France, chartered a moderate
course designed to maintain neutrality, prevent recognition of the
Confederacy, and at the same time leave the way open for a future course
of action. This Mr. Seward had done with brilliance. Secretary
Seward's success in maintaining this policy undoubtedly affected the
outcome of the Civil War in the United States and the French expedi-
tion to Mexico. To these ends Mr. Seward gave him utmost attention to

make sure his policy succeeded even though he found it extremely diffi-

cult at times.
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CHAPTER IV
PROBLEMS OF MAINTAINING NEUTRALITY

The years 1863 to 1865 marked a very difficult period in our
foreign relations with France for Secretary of State William Seward.
The problem was how to maintain a neutral policy in face of an aggres-
sive foreign power determined on establishing a monarchial government
in Mexico and to quiet the ardent domestic desire for enforcement of
the Monroe Doctrine, at least until a more favorable time could be
found to deal with the problem. Mr. Seward's policy was further com-
plicated by the problem of maintaining neutrality while leaving his
policy open for change when the situation would warrant. Secretary
Seward's policy was also affected by the domestic desire to defend the
Monroe Doctrine. Mr. Seward used this spirit to put pressure upon
France to get out of Mexico because of the strong sentiments of the
United States citizens against French designs to establish a monarchy
in Mexico.

Secretary Seward's apprehensions about challenging France over
Mexico were found in a private letter to John Bigelow, Consul-General
at Paris, on September 9, 1863, in which he stated:

We are too intent on putting down our own insurrection,

and avoiding complications which might embarrass us, to seek

for occasion of dispute with any foreign power. I do not know,

but I think it reasonable to presume, that the emperor finds
the difficulty of his administration sufficient to employ him,
without inviting any unnecessary difficulty with the United

States. I may be wrong in the latter view. But, if I am,

there is likely to be time enough for us to change our course

after discovering the error.!

This letter gave Mr. Seward's personal view about the situation
41
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concerning United States-French relations and the Civil War. It showed
that he was concerned more with the domestic Civil War and sought to
avoid complications with France which might interfere with the primary
concern of the Lincoln administration, which was the Civil War. It
also showed that Secretary Seward was thinking in terms of a long term
policy in regard to France if the need for one arose.

In setting forth his neutrality policy regarding Mexico, Mr.
Seward declared the United States: "have neither a right nor any dispo-
sition to intervene by force in the internal affairs of Mexico, whether
to establish or to maintain a republican or even a domestic government
there, or to overthrow an imperial or a foreign one if Mexico shall

choose to establish or accept it."2

Secretary Seward continued by
writing that the United States had no right to intervene on either
side, and it practiced non-intervention, which they required all
foreign nations to observe in regard to the United States. Mr. Seward
also expressed grave doubts that the Mexican people favored the monarchial
form of government imposed from abroad.3

Mr. Seward pointed out his belief that France was doomed to fail-
ure in trying to establish a monarchial government in Mexico. In a
warning to France, Secretary Seward wrote:

Nor do we practice reserve upon the point that if France should,

upon due consideration, determine to adopt a policy in Mexico

adverse to the American opinions and sentiments which I have

described, that policy would probably scatter seeds which would

be fruitful of jealousies that might ultimately ripen into col-

lisions between France and the United States and other American

republics.a

Secretary Seward pointed out that the Mexican people should be

the ones to decide their form of government and no other nation had a

right to impose one upon the Mexican people, thereby disclaiming any
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desire on the part of the United States to control any part of Mexico.
Mr. Seward suggested that the United States government would not neg-
lect to make provision for its own safety. Mr. Seward's statements
were doubtless intended to convey the impression that the United States
would not invoke the Monroe Doctrine. All Mr. Seward did at this time
was to warn France of a collision course with the United States if
France should adopt one adverse to United States opinions and senti-
ments which would result if France tried to impose a monarchial govern-
ment on the Mexican people. This policy in effect left France a way
to carry out its designs without clashing with the statements of
Secretary Seward. France could claim she was only helping the Mexican
people with what they wanted. In this manner France was allowed, offi-
cially at least, to help the Mexicans establish a monarchy under
Maximilian. Without protest from the United States, there was left no
excuse for Napoleon III to declare war on the United States or recog-
nize the Confederate states.5

Secretary Seward was especially careful about our diplomats prac-
ticing neutrality. When John Mctley, United States Minister to Austria,
reported that Austria was recruiting troops to accompany Maximilian
to Mexico and suggested the enforcement of the Monroe Doctrine to
prevent it, Secretary Seward was quick to reply that since Austria
had not shown any interest in the Mexican affair, he did not deem it
necessary for a United States representative to engage in political
debates which the Mexican situation elicited.6 When John Bigelow wrote
from France urging Mr. Seward to be more outspoken in regard to Mexico,
Secretary Seward replied: "I think, with deference to your opinion,

which I always hold in great respect, that, with our land and naval
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forces in Louisiana retreating before the rebels instead of marching
toward Mexico, this is not the most suitable time we could choose for
offering idle menances to the Emperor of France."7

The importance of Secretary Seward's neutrality policy was illus-
trated in a conversation between Drouyn de Lhuys, French Minister of
Foreign Affairs, and William Dayton, United States Minister to France.
Mr. Dayton reported that in his conversation with Mr. Lhuys reference
was made to the rumor that the United States government only awaited
the end of its Civil War to drive the French out of Mexico. Mr. Dayton
said the French concluded that if they were to have trouble with the
United States, it would be safest to choose their own time. Mr. Lhuys
said the Emperor had asked him if these rumors were true. Mr. Lhuys said
he told him the United States had made no formal protest against the
French actions. Mr. Dayton assured Mr. Lhuys he had received no orders
to make such a protest and he had relied on French assurances they did
not intend to colonize Mexico or impose a foreign government in Mexico.
Mr. Dayton also assured Mr. Lhuys the United States government had no
intentions of interference in the war between France and Mexico.8

Upon hearing rumors that France intended to seize Texas and form
an alliance with the Confederates, Secretary Seward requested that the
Emperor Napoleon make a reliable guarantee that he did not intend per-
manent occupation of Mexico.9 William Dayton reported the French Minis-
ter Lhuys said a vote of the entire country would be taken, and if a
majority of the people desired a monarchy, he supposed that would be
sufficient. Minister Lhuys went on to say that the dangers of the
government of Maximilian would come principally from the United States,

and the sooner the United States entered into peaceful relations with
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that government, the sooner the French would be ready to leave Mexico
and the new government to itself.10

Secretary Seward declined to accept the proposal of Minister
Lhuys on the premise that the United States were determined to err on
the side of strict neutrality. Action lending support to either side
would violate that neutrality. In reply to the proposal, Mr. Seward
wrote:

In the opinion of the United States, the permanent estab-
lishment of a foreign and monarchial government in Mexico will
be found neither easy nor desirable. . . . On the other hand,
the United States cannot anticipate the action of the people
of Mexico, nor have they the least purpose or desire to inter-
fere with their proceedings, or control or interfere with their
free choice, or disturb them in the enjoyment of whatever in-
stitution of government they may, in the exercise of an abso-
lute freedom establish. . . . The United States continue to
regard Mexico as the theatre of a war which has not yet ended
in the subversion of the government long existing there, with
which the United States remain in the relation of peace and
sincere friendship. . . . The United States, consistently with
their principles, can do no otherwise than leave the destinies
of Mexico in the keeping of her own people. . . .

There was a growing popular demand for a more aggressive policy
against the French in Mexico by 1864. There was considerable contempt
for Secretary Seward's passive policy toward the French. Senator James
A. McDougall of California introduced a resolution in the United States
Senate in January, 1864, declaring the occupation of Mexico by French
forces was an act unfriendly to the United States and it was the duty
of the United States government to demand w:lthdrawal.l2 This resolu-
tion was never reported from the committee but did bring embarrassment
to Secretary Seward. Again in April, 1864, the House of Representa-
tives, by a vote of 109 to 0, declared it would not accord with the

policy of the United States to acknowledge a monarchial government

erected under the auspices of any European power. When the resolution
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reached the Senate it died in the committee, thereby saving Secretary
Seward political problems which might have developed over the resolu-
tion.13 The seriousness of the resolution was realized especially when
Minister Dayton called on Mr. Lhuys in Paris shortly after a copy of
the resolution reached him. Mr. Lhuys' immediate question was, "Do you
bring us peace, or bring us war?'" Mr. Dayton's reply was that the re-
solutions embodied nothing more than what had been constantly held out
to the French from the beginning. This being that there should be no
interference by the French government as to the form of government in
Mexico.14 In response to a request for an explanation of the resolu-
tions, Mr. Seward instructed Minister Dayton to inform the French
government that although the resolution was a true interpretation of
the unanamous sentiment of the people of the United States, it was
another and distinct question, whether the United States would think
it necessary or proper to express themselves in the form of the resolu-
tions adopted by the House of Representatives. Mr. Seward went on to
say that this was a practical and pure executive question, and the de-
cision belongs to the President of the United States. The President,
Mr. Seward related, respected the expression of the sentiments of the
House upon this subject, but he does not contemplate any departure
from the policy which had been pursued in regard to the war which ex-
isted between France and Mexico. Secretary Seward also said that any
change in policy would be quickly notified by the French government.15

Secretary Seward received severe criticism from the House of
Representatives for his explanations to France. After citing a long
history of precedent and incidents in which Congress exercised a con-

trolling influence in foreign affairs, a resolution was adopted stating
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Congress had a constitutional right to an authoritative voice in
declaring and prescribing the foreign policy of the United States, and
it was the constitutional duty of the President to respect that policy
and that the propriety of any declaration of foreign policy by Congress
was sufficiently proved by the vote which pronounces it.16
Mr. Seward wrote a confidential letter to John Bigelow in which

he stated:

the nation can act with all the circumspection and delibera-
tion which a regard to its condition of distraction, civil
war, and social revolution requires, I might say to you con-
fidentially . . . that those who are most impatient for the
defeat of European and monarchial designs in Mexico might

well be content to abide the effects which must result from
the ever increasing expansion of the American people westward
and southward. Five years, ten years, twenty years hence,
Mexico will be opening herself as cheerfully to American immi-
gration as Montana and Idaho are now. What European power can
then maintain an army in Mexico capable of issisting the
martial and moral influence of immigration?

Several clubs were formed to urge the government to a more active
policy in the maintenance of the Monroe Doctrine. One such organiza-
tion was called the Defenders of the Monroe Doctrine. The French
charg®, Marc-Antoine Geofroy, protested the organization's activities
and purposes in a letter to Secretary Seward and asked for an investi-
gation.18 Mr. Seward's reply was an explanation that there was an or-
ganization known as the Defenders of the Monroe Doctrine, and its pre-
siding officer was a Colonel F. N. D. S. Borden, a citizen of Mexico.
Mr. Seward continued by explaining that only a few young citizens of
New Orleans, of little influence, belonged to the club. He explained
that the object of the club was to influence the government in favor
of a maintenance of the Monroe Doctrine but not in violation of the law

or neutrality policy of the United States government.19 Secretary
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Seward undoubtedly wished to maintain friendly relations with France
and maintain his neutral policy by assuring the French that the or-
ganization was of little influence. Mr. Seward did admit its exist-
ence, perhaps for political effects and to let the French know that
the United States citizens objected to any violation of a long estab-
lished policy regarding foreign interference in political affairs on
this continent.

Further apprehension was felt by United States diplomats when
Maximilian formally accepted the crown offered by the Mexican deputies
on April 10, 1864, at Miramar, near Trieste. In reporting to Secretary
Seward the acceptance of Maximilian, William Dayton wrote, ''Nothing has
happened since I came here which so much foreshadows the future dif-
ferences with France. . . . France has not kept faith with us, but it

is needless to complain now-not till we are able to enforce repara-

20

tion. William Dayton, like Mr. Seward, realized the United States

could not afford a war with France at that time. Mr. Dayton had written
in a previous despatch, '"We cannot afford a war with France for the

Quixotic purpose of helping Mexico. . . ."21

Realizing the seriousness
of the relations between the United States and France, Secretary Seward
was determined to maintain a neutral policy towards the French-Mexico
war and avert a crisis with France. Mr. Seward was determined to pre-
vent a confrontation with France, at least until the United States had
settled its chief domestic problem, the Civil War. Considering the pos-
sibility of aggression against the United States by France, Mr. Seward
declared the United States would rise to the new duties devolved upon

it, Secretary Seward again reiterated his opinion that ''the destinies

of the American continent are not to be permanently controlled
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by political arrangements that can be made in the political capitals

n22 Mr. Seward knew that intervention against France in

of Europe.
Mexico at that time might be dangerous to the safety of the United
States.23 Mr. Seward's policy was well explained in a letter to
Charles F. Adams, declaring, "I know no way but to contemplate the
situation calmly, do our duty faithfully, and meet every emergency as
it rises. . . ."24

Secretary Seward's policy encountered difficulty again when the
Radical Republican Convention at Cleveland, Ohio, on May 31, 1864,
declared in an erronerous interpretation of the Monroe Doctrine, ''the
national policy known as the Monroe Doctrine has become a recognized
principle and that the establishment of any anti-republican government
on this continent by any foreign power can not be tolerated.'" The
Republican national convention then declared in June, 1864, that:

the people of the United States can never regard with in-

difference the attempt of any European power to overthrow

by force or to supplant by fraud the institutions of any

republican government of the Western Continent, and they will

view with extreme jealousy, as menacing to the peace and in-
dependence of their own country, the efforts of any such power

to obtain new footholds for monarchial governments, sustained

by fore%gn military force in near proximity to the United

States.

Secretary Seward, still maintaining his neutral policy and hoping
the situation would resolve itself according to his expressed views,
wrote to John Motley, '"All that can be done in regard to them is to
practice prudence and good faith in our foreign relations, and at the
same time make preparations for self defense, if notwithstanding our

n26 Secre-

best efforts, we find ourselves involved in new complications.
tary Seward believed his neutrality policy would prevent a war with

France, allow the Civil War to be concluded without outside interference,
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and maintain friendly relations with France and the European nations
without having to engage in a senseless war to uphold the Monroe Doc-
trine. Mr. Seward undoubtedly believed the United States would need
friends rather than enemies after the conclusion of the Civil War. Mr.
Seward held firm in his belief that diplomatic skill and time would
alleviate the trouble in Mexico when he expressed himself to John
Bigelow:

I remain, however, of the opinion I have often expressed,
that even this vexatious Mexican question in the end will find
its solution without producing a conflict between the United
States and France. The future of Mexico is neither an immediate
nor even a vital question for either the United States or France.
For both of them it is a foreign affair, and therefore time aag
reason may be allowed their full influence in its settlement.
Rumors circulated that Maximilian was about to cede Sonora and
part of Lower California to France for a military colony in the latter
part of 1864. When John Bigelow inquired of the French Minister about
rumors to this plan, the reply was that it had been proposed to give
the French government a lien upon the mineral products of Sonora as

security for the Mexican debt to France.28

To maintain his established
policy of neutrality, Mr. Seward answered the Mexican Minister Romero
that the protest he had filed over the rumored French plans would be
filed in the archives for future uses and purposes that events might
demand.29 He instructed John Bigelow that such a cession, or even the
creation of a lien upon the mineral revenues of Sonora, would not be
regarded with favor by the people of the United States.30

Toward the close of the Civil War, apprehension was being felt
in France that once the North and South were reunited, a combined

effort would be made to enforce the Monroe Doctrine. Secretary Seward

was careful to keep these rumors from becoming the basis for French
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policy, and possibly for France to extend aid to the Confederacy in
order to propagate the split in the Union. Mr. Seward made clear his
policy toward France in a private note to John Bigelow:

the policy of this government toward Mexico as hitherto made

known by the President remains unchanged. It rests with

France to decide whether this 1is satisfactory. If we have

war with her, it must be a war of her own making either

against our ships or upon our territory. We shall defend

ourselves if assailed on our own ground. We shall attack

nobody elsewhere. All subordinate and collateral questions

ensuing out of the war are left by us to the arbitration

of reason under the instructions of time. Forbearance and

liberality toward the United States in Europe will relieve

the situation.

Mr. Seward's explanation to France in explaining rumors and pro-
jects to reunite the North and South in a combined war against France
to drive her from Mexico was that 'this government prefers to fight
this civil war out on the present line, if no foreign state intervenes
in behalf of the insurgents."32 Secretary Seward was thoroughly con-
vinced the United States must avoid a war with France if at all possible
and his diplomacy was centered around this objective. His insistence
that we would only declare war if wrared upon our land or ships indi-
cated his desire to settle the Mexican question with diplomatic skill
and not by force of arms.

The Maximilian government took steps to secure recognition from
the United States in March, 1865. Secretary Seward, not wanting to pro-
voke unnecessary hostility from France over recognizing the Maximilian
government, stated that the United States still recognized the Republican
government in Mexico and had not given recognition to Maximilian;
therefore, it did not receive unauthorized agents. Mr. Seward con-

tinued by stating that the United States were engaged in suppressing

a dangerous rebellion and not unwilling to be unnecessarily diverted
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from that duty over a controversy in Mexico with any party in Mexico
or elsewhere concerning affairs in that country.33 Secretary Seward
earlier had instructed William Dayton that if Maximilian appeared in
Paris with the assumption of political title in Mexico, he was to re-
frain from intercourse with him. If questioned about his actions, Mr.
Dayton was to say he had not been recognized by the United States, and
his instructions were to hold no formal or informal communications with
political agents of revolutionary movements in countries with which the
United States maintained diplomatic intercourse.34

The future diplomatic course of the United States toward France
was becoming one of anxiety to the French, and they continually sought
assurances that the end of the Civil War would not bring a change of
policy on the part of the United States in regard to the French pres-
ence in Mexico. In reply to a question to the future policy of the
United States, Mr. Seward replied:

We want our national rights. We are not looking for

ulterior, national advantages, or aggrandizement, much less

for occasions for retaliating in other forms of hostility

against foreign states. We are not pro?agandisg5 although

we are consistent in our political convictions.

Mr. Seward's policy toward France was again asserted after a re-
mark of John Bigelow had been misinterpreted by the French. On June 9,
1865, M. Rouher, in the French Assembly, asserted that Mr. Bigelow had
said to the French Minister Lhuys, '"We understand that Mexico, which
has long been governed by the monarchial form, may desire to return to
that state of things, and we are not going to make war upon a question
of form of government." Mr. Bigelow reported to Secretary Sewar& that
his misinterpreted remarks were in brief, that since the experiment had

begun, the people of the United States wished it to be fully tried to
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determine finally and forever whether European systems of government
suited the Mexican people best. If it did suit tﬁem best, and public
tranquility was restored, no nation was more interested in such a re-
sult than the United States. Whatever government was acceptable to
the Mexican people was acceptable to the United States. Mr. Bigelow
asserted that he had never said the Mexican people desired a monar-

36

chial government.

When Secretary Seward replied to Mr. Bigelow, he again asserted

his policy of strict neutrality. Mr. Seward explained that Mr. Bigelow's

remarks were not warranted by the instructions of his department. Secre-

tary Seward declared:

So far as our relations are carried, what we hold in regard
to Mexico is that France is a belligerent there in war with the
Republic of Mexico. We do not enter into the merits of the
belligerents, but we practice in regard to the contest the prin-
ciples of neutrality as we have insisted on the practice of neu-
trality by all nations in regard to our civil war. Our friend-
ship toward the republic of Mexico and our sympathies with the
republican system on this continent, as well as our faith and
confidence in it, have been continually declared. We do not
intervene in foreign wars or foreign politics. Political inter-
vention in the affairs of foreign states is a principle thus
far avoided by our government. It is right and proper never-
theless that the French government should not misunderstand
the case and be suffered to fall into a belief that we have
entertained any views favorable to it as an invader of Mexico, or
that we at all distrust the_ultimate success of republican systems
throughout this continent.

Secretary Seward was still careful in emphasizing our neutrality toward
the Mexican question as we had insisted upon neutrality toward the Civil
War. Mr. Seward did not deny the sympathies of the United States toward
the republican form of government as existed in Mexico. He had con-
tinually stressed in p;evious correspondence to the French minister these
sympathies. While Secretary Seward emphatically stressed to France the

neutrality policy of this government, he was also quick to show
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disapproval of the French actions if they consisted of imposing a
monarchial form of government on the Mexican people. Possibly he had
in mind to use this point as a basis for demanding French withdrawal
from Mexico.

Mr. Seward was still careful not to give Napoleon a reason to
believe the United States had changed its policy in regard to Mexico.
In a despatch to Secretary Seward, John Bigelow cautioned Mr. Seward
about giving any pretext which might rally French public opinion against
the United States. Mr. Bigelow was especially aware of European dis-
gust for the Monroe Doctrine and feared its use would only rally Euro-
peans to oppose it. Mr. Bigelow believed it important that the United
States not permit anything to happen to relieve the situation at our
expense.38 Mr. Seward replied that France knew the United States would
not recognize a monarchial government engaged in a war with a domestic
republican government. The United States could not ally itself with a
nation at war with its friend. The United States desired peace and
friendly relations with France. If France did adopt a measure of hos-
tility toward the United States, this government would meet the shock
according to its ability.39

Secretary Seward was still anxious to give France no reason to
believe the United States had changed its policy with the close of the
Civil War. Mr. Seward had consistently expressed his policy of neu-
trality toward the Mexican question as he wanted the European nations
to observe neutrality toward the United States Civil War. Mr. Seward
consistently expressed the sympathies of this country with the republi-
can government in Mexico and expressed its attitude that French impo-

sition of a monarchial government would be looked upon with disfavor by
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this country as the Civil War in the United States drew to a close.
Mr. Seward undoubtedly believed that the best policy to pursue was one
of peace and time with a series of diplomatic negotiations. Secretary
Seward wanted to secure by peaceful diplomacy what others were anxious
to obtain by military means. Through these diplomatic negotiations,
Mr. Seward first emphasized and later insisted boldly the necessity
of the withdrawal of the French from Mexico.

The conclusion of the Civil War removed the greatest danger for
the United States. Secretary Seward could have changed his policy
immediately following the conclusion of the Civil War if it had been
merely a policy of prudence, but for four years he had been practicing
the art of diplomacy with France. Secretary Seward, through diplo-
matic skill, had kept France from openly intervening in the Civil War
and kept France and Great Britain from forming an alliance possibly
against the United States. To get the French out of Mexico peaceably
through diplomatic skill would be a very difficult task, but one Mr.
Seward would pursue now that the Civil War was closed and his attention

could be directed toward that pu'cpose.[‘1
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CHAPTER V
THE TRIUMPH OF MR. SEWARD'S DIPLOMACY

The approaching end of the Civil War brought no substantial
modification in the foreign policy of Secretary Seward, who became
more convinced as the war's end drew near that the wisest course he
could take was one of moderation and through a pacific policy, pre-
vail upon the French to remove their troops from Mexico without a
resort to hostilities. Having determined to persist in this course
of moderation, it became ever more evident to Mr. Seward that it
would require his talents of diplomacy to hold in restraint the rising
demand for action to defend the principles of the Monroe Doctrine. Mr.
Seward knew that the violent threats from radicals in the United States,
and at times even projects to launch an invasion of Mexico, would only
serve to make the possibility of removing the French troops from Mexico
impossible short of war. Many people even expected the mass army used
during the Civil War to be used to vindicate the French intervention
in Mexico. Secretary Seward was concerned that these indiscreet pro-
jects would serve only to help Napoleon cover up his mistakes by making
him a popular figure in Europe in a patriotic war against the much
hated Monroe Doctrine. Mr. Seward sought to prevent these projects
in order to carry out his policy of moderation.1

The high officials of the Northern army became more insistent on
using their army to expel the French with the close of the Civil War.
Many ex-soldiers sought to enlist in the services of the Jugrez forces

at the close of the war. Mr. Romero concluded that a prominent general
59
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was needed to direct these emigrants and organize them into an army.
When Mr. Romero conferred with General Ulysses S. Grant, he was found
to be very favorable to the plan. After some discussion, they decided
that Mr. Grant would be of more use diplomatically in the United States.
They soon found an able man for the enterprise in General J. M.
Schofield. Mr. Grant and Mr. Romero soon convinced the President and
most of the Cabinet of the wisdom of the plan. Secretary Seward op-
posed the plan, fearing it would only lead to a needless war with
France.2 General Grant got permission from President Johnson to give
General Schofield a leave of absence. General Sheridan was sent to
observe along the Rio Grande and place ordinance stores along the river
for the use of General Schofield and the troops he would have under his
command. General Sheridan was to aid Juérez if at all possible and
deliberately stir up trouble.3 Mr. Sheridan appeared to hold a great
deal of contempt for Secretary Seward's neutrality policy and actually
advocated war. General Sheridan complained of the slow and poky
methods of the state department and even severely criticized Secretary
Seward for lack of aggressiveness. He once remarked that a golden
opportunity was lost since the United States had an ample excuse for
crossing the border, but Secretary Seward opposed any act likely to
involve the United States in war.a

Before carrying out his plan, Secretary Seward convinced General
Schofield of the need for his talents in Paris as a diplomat in per-
suading Napoleon to remove his troops from Mexico. General Schofield's
expedition to Mexico could have had serious consequences relative to
the strategy of Secretary Seward. The whole undertaking by Schofield

and Grant was practically disorganized when Mr. Seward flattered General
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Schofield into thinking his talent were needed in Paris. General
Schofield's role was to seek out the best measures to be taken to in-
duce Napoleon to withdraw his forces from Mexico. Mr. Seward knew
that the aggressive attitude of General Schofield would quieten once
he stood face to face with the Emperor Napoleon. An illustration of
Seward's confidence in his policy was when he told Schofield: "I want
you to get your legs under Napoleon's mahogany and tell him he must
get out of Mexico."5 General Schofield's report upon returning was
there was no need for his services in such a scheme proposed. As
Secretary Seward later said, he gave General Schofield something to
do and converted him to his own policy by convincing him the French
were going as fast as they could. This even pacified General Grant.6

Secretary Seward also opposed any attempts to help the Judrez
forces by raising of money. The plan of Schofield and Grant was to
raise money through the sale of bonds to Juarist sympathizers. Secre-
tary Seward knew monetary aid would be a breach of neutrality and sought
to avoid giving any offense to the Emperor when he was probably then
facing the decision of removing his troops. Mr. Seward's opposition and
the large national debt were instrumental factors in defeating the mea-
sure in Congress.7

Another private project which evinced considerable correspondence
and anxiety from Mr. Seward to the French was that of Dr. William .
Gwin, a former United States Senator from California, to colonize
several states in Northern Mexico with ex-Confederates. Several very
prominent Confederates were to be involved in this scheme. Secretary
Seward related to the French that patience of the United States people

over the French intervention was getting smaller. Any favor shown to
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Dr. Gwin by the Emperor would only tend to increase that impatience
and would be regarded as a menace to the United States. Mr. Seward
reminded the Emperor that France had pledged a neutral policy in Mexi-
can politics and now the Emperor was taking a different course from
that previously assured to Mr. Seward. Secretary Seward asked for
assurances that Dr. Gwin's scheme was not being sanctioned by the Em-
peror. A stern warning was given that the United States could not look
with favor upon the insurgents across the border after havihg expelled
them from the United States.8 After denying any knowledge of the scheme,
the French Foreign Minister Lhuys declared: 'we have nothing to offer
as a pledge of our intentions but our word, but we deem the word of
France a guarantee which will satisfy any foreign power. . . .”9 Al-
though the charge was denied by the French government, undoubtedly
there was considerable evidence to support the accusations of the plans
of Dr. Gwin. Mr. Seward used this occasion to present a growing im-
patience on the part of the United States people for the withdrawal of
French forces from Mexico. This was the first time Mr. Seward con-
fronted the French with the fact of their complete violation of their
neutrality policy, pointing out that the United States had formulated
its neutrality policy and maintained it accordingly.

The reference to the growing impatience of the United States

people by Mr. Seward was the beginning of a new policy in his effort
to remove the French from Mexico. This policy was contrived with the
purpose of using the attitude of the United States people as a weapon
against the French at the opportune time. Mr. Seward represented the
United States people as straining at the leash. Congress was pro-

trayed, quite accurately, irritated and demanding action. The army
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was pictured as spoiling for a fight as many of its professionals were.
Mr. Seward had left his policy of 1862 open for just such an opportune
time. French violation of the neutrality policy it had promised ap-
peared fit for just such an opportunity. In view of the reported
growing domestic opposition in France to the Emperor's enterprise, it
was thought possible to hasten the Emperor's withdrawal from Mexico.lo
Secretary Seward foresaw that France should not long delay her with-
drawal from Mexico in the interest of future peace. He viewed with
alarm the growing impatience of Congress, the anger of the United
States people, and the danger of the two armies facing one another
across the border. Mr. Seward's alarm was expressed in a private note
to Mr. Bigelow on August 7, in which he claimed that the presence of
French troops might quicken the impatience of the United States to a
point which would be incompatible with peace. Mr. Seward again ex-
pressed through Mr. Bigelow to Mr. Lhuys the growing impatience of the
United States people and requested Mr. Bigelow to make certain Lhuys
understood this so he might hasten the French withdrawal.ll

Secretary Seward was gradually becoming more pre-emptory with
France. The Instructions immediately prior to September were to set
the stage for his final diplomatic moves to remove the French troops
from Mexico without erupting a war. The French Foreign Minister dis-
closed in August the desire on their part to withdraw their forces if
the United States could display a better attitude on their part toward'
the Maximilian government and observe neutrality once the French left.12
Mr. Seward, in a long despatch on September 6, 1865, started a series
of correspondence which resulted in a virtual ultimatum to France. Mr.

Seward discussed in his correspondence of September 6 the previous
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policies of the United States government in regard to Mexico and the
traditional friendship between these two governments saying, however,
that it appears now France was lending her influences to destroy the
republican government in Mexico. Mr. Seward pointed out that past
administrations in the United States had found it necessary to adapt
their policies to the demand of the national will. He stated that the
expression of that will could usually be relied upon as pointing out a
line of action, and that since the Civil War had ended in the United
States, Congress and the people would now give their attention to the
relations with the French. He stated that since both countries had
armies facing each other over the Mexican border, the time had come
when both nations must consider whether the permanent interests of
international peace and friendship did not require thoughtful and
serious attention to the political question in Mexico.13 This was not
exactly an ultimatum to France but a form of suggestion as to what the
United States people might insist upon doing if the French failed to
withdraw from Mexico. Mr. Seward was undoubtedly using the popular
feeling in the United States as a weapon to point out a collision course
with France if she did not withdraw from Mexico soon.

When the French minister proposed United States recognition as
compensation for the French withdrawal of its troops, Mr. Seward gave
a sharp reply. His response to such a bid for recognition was a virtual
ultimatum to France to withdraw. Using the public anger as his tool of
diplomacy, Mr. Seward asserted:

The presence and operations of a French army in Mexico, and its

maintenance of an authority there, resting upon force and not

the free will of the people of Mexico, is a cause of serious

concern to the United States. Nevertheless, the objection of
the United States is still broader, and includes the authority
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itself which the French army is thus maintaining. That
authority is in direct antagonism to the policy of this
government and the principle upon which it is founded.

They still regard the effort to establish permanently

a foreign and imperial government in Mexico as disallowable

and impracticable. . . . They are not prepared to recognize,

or to pledge themselves . . . to recognize any political

institutions in Mexico which are in opposition to the re-

publican government. . . 14
Mr. Seward clearly accused the French of forcing upon the Mexican
people a foreign monarchial government. This being the case, the
people of the United States would never recognize such a government
held only by French arms. Secretary Seward had once more wielded the
weapon of the will of the people of the United States. Mr. Lhuys'
shock to this sudden frankness and directness was clearly indicated
by his concern when he remarked that he derived neither pleasure not

satisfaction from its contents.15

Regardless of Mr. Lhuys' reaction
to Mr. Bigelow, the French Foreign Minister knew that Secretary Seward
did spell out the opinion of the United States people and he indeed
might have to cope with it.

Mr. Seward again brought up the necessity for French withdrawal
in his correspondence to Mr. Bigelow on December 16, 1865. Pointing
out the likelihood that Congress would direct by law the action of the
executive department on the matter if France did not hasten the re-
moval of its troops, Mr. Seward stated:

It is not the executive department of this government alone

which is interested and concerned in the question whether the

present condition of things shall be continued in Mexico. The

interest is a national one, and in every event Congress, . . .

is authorized by the Constitution and is entitled to direct

by law the action of the United States in regard to that im-

portant subject.

Mr. Seward made two points in this correspondence to the French minis-

ter. First, the United States wanted continued friendship, and secondly,
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this friendship was in jeopardy unless France ceased its policy of
overthrowing the Mexican republican government. The proposal to with-
draw by the French if the United States would recognize the Maximilian
17
government was rejected.

The situation was further aggravated when on October 3, the
Maximilian government issued a decree ordering all Mexicans belonging to
armed bands, not legally organized, to be tried by court martial and
if found guilty would be sentenced to death within twenty-four hours.
This decree was aimed directly at the Judrez forces.18 Secretary
Seward expressed alarm at the decree and its actually being carried out.
He declared the United States government could never recognize a
government which issued the decree. Secretary Seward directed Mr.
Bigelow to call this matter to the attention of the French Foreign
Minister and inform him these reports had been received with deepest

19
concern.

In the conversation which ensued between Mr. Bigelow and Mr.
Lhuys, the former referred to the execution of the Mexican prisoners
taken in war. Mr. Lhuys replied when asked to prevent these barbaric
acts:

Why do you not go to President Judarez? We are not the
government of Mexico, and you do us too much honor to treat

us as such. We had to go to lMexico with an army to secure

certain interests, but we are not responsible for Maximilian

or his government. He is accountable to you, as to any other

government if he violated its rights, and you have the same

remedies there that we had.
One point Mr. Bigelow pointed out to Mr. Seward which may have made
him more confident of his policy was that his impression from the con-

versation was that if the United States insisted upon their withdrawal,

that would be the end of their Mexican experiment. Mr. Bigelow
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believed no attempt would be made to defend Mexico if war broke out
between the United States and Mexico.21

France had tried to use as a weapon the promise of withdrawal
if the United States would recognize the Maximilian government. Mr.
Lhuys proposed that if the United States would recognize Maximilian's
government as a de facto government and open relations with Maximilian
there would be no difficulty in arranging the recall of the French
troops.

Secretary Seward replied to the French proposal on December 6,
when he declared the proposal impractical. He declared that foreign
armies in Mexico are dangerous. He confirmed the right of a nation
to make war but not to menace the safety of the United States. Mr.
Seward claimed France had subverted a domestic government established
by the people. He promised the United States would not carry on a war
of propagandism over the republican cause but insisted that every state
had the right to choose a republican form if it so desired without
foreign interference. He reiterated that the United States did not
subvert European governments nor should they subvert American govern-
ments.23

In his annual message of 1865, President Johnson gave his inter-
pretation of the Monroe Doctrine in somewhat of an obscure threat. After
reviewing the history of this foreign intervention, he declared the
United States desired to act in the future as it had in the past. He
stated the United States relied on the wisdom of non-interference on
the part of the European governments as the United States practiced in
regard to them. He declared the United States policy of leaving the

European nations to form their own systems of government. He stated
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that it would be a great calamity if the European powers challenge
the American people to the defense of republicanism.24

The United States Congress, which was soon to be in session, was
sure to be aggressive and demanding for action. Secretary Seward
hastened to use this occasion to use his weapon, public opinion in the
United States, stating that Congress might by law direct the action of
this country. The United States' traditional policy of friendship
would be in eminent jeopardy unless France could stop the intervention
in Mexico.25 Mr. Bigelow reported on December 21, 1865, that he was
convinced that France was determined to get out of Mexico without delay.
He believed this to be the will of the French people. Mr. Bigelow saw
that Congress should not spoil the negotiations by rash acts. He
recommended that Congress hold itself in reserve, and concentrate on
domestic issues, and wait until the Mexican question asserted itself.
Mr. Bigelow said: '"'the quieter we are, the quicker they will go . . .
the more patient Congress is, the better.”26

The official reply to Mr. Seward's Instructions of November 29,
were written by Foreign Minister Lhuys, which was a lengthy letter first
traciqg the long history of events surrounding the Mexican question.
Mr. Lhuys claimed the United States held friendly relations with the
Brazilian monarchy and with Mexico in 1822. 1If the United States was
not against monarchy, or the form of government, there was no point of
antagonism between the United States and France. However, Mr. Lhuys
said that as soon as arrangements had been made regarding the French
debts, French forces would be withdrawn. He went on to say that when

the United States promised strict neutrality after the French had left,

2
the French soldiers would be returned to France. 7
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Mr. Bigelow proposed to Mr. Seward on January 11, 1866, to test
the sincerity of the Emperor's offer, to withdraw his forces. Mr. Lhuys
suggested that if an assurance of non-intervention in Mexico after the
French left could be given, France was prepared to disclose negotia-
tions which were going on with the Maximilian government at that time
for the purpose of French withdrawa1.28 Mr. Bigelow wrote again on
January 25 that as soon as he could receive instructions giving assur-
ances of non-intervention by the United States, he expected to receive
the report of negotiations between Napoleon and Maximilian over French
withdrawal. One reason Napoleon wanted the United States' promise of
neutrality was because the Emperor desired his retirement from Mexico

29 Mr. Bigelow, after giving some ob-

to appear entirely voluntary.
jections to giving a formal assurance to France that the status quo
would not be disturbed, closed by reviewing the long history of the
United States in not interfering in the affairs of other nations. The
French Foreign Minister replied that he would see if he could not find
this assurance in previous correspondence.3

Secretary Seward replied to this note of January 29 in a letter
to Mr. Lhuys, stating that regardless of the intentions, purposes, and
objects of France, the proceedings of Mexicans for subverting the re-
publican government there and for using the French intervention to
establish an imperial monarchy are regarded by the United States as
being without the authority and against the will of the people. He
declared the United States could not accept the idea that the Mexican
people had spoken for an imperial monarchy. He iterated that it would

be necessary for a French withdrawal to allow such a voice to be heard.

’
Mr. Seward stated that the United States still recognized the Juarez
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government as the only legal government of Mexico. Mr. Seward went on
to state that the United States did not seek to overthrow by force any
imperial government in this hemisphere that had been established by the
will of the people. He declared that France need not for a moment de-
lay her proposed withdrawal. Trying to commit France to a withdrawal
date, he asked for definite information when French military operations
might be expected to cease in Mexico.31

Napoleon III decided at this time that he must act in view of
France's troubles with Prussia, the growing impatience of the French
people, and likewise of the people of the United States. Napoleon
decided that he could not afford a war with the United States in view
of the European situation. Mr. Lhuys' reply to Secretary Seward's
note of February 12 was written on April 5, 1866. Refusing to discuss
again the assertions on points of doctrine, Mr. Lhuys said that the
United States government had conformed to the rule of practicing non-
intervention throughout its history, as Secretary Seward claimed. He
went on to declare that nothing justified the apprehension that it
would now show itself unfaithful. Considering this as an assurance
of non-intervention, he expressed the intended purpose of France to
withdraw from Mexico in three detachments beginning in November, 1866,

32 The 'Moniteur,'" considered the official

and ending in November, 1867.
organ for Napoleon, announced the Emperor's decision to evacuate the

French troops in Mexico in three detachments. The first detachment was
to be in November, 1866, the second detachment in March, 1867, and the
final detachment in November, 1867.33

Secretary Seward expressed his satisfaction of the agreement

reached in his reply and expressed concern that France adhere to the
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time limit. He declared that the continued intervention during even
the limited time would be regarded with concern and apprehension by
the people and perhaps even Congress. He also stated that as long as
the intervention continued, the United States army of observation along
the southern bank of the Rio Grande River must continue.34

Secretary Seward learned of another affair in March which
threatened to upset the plans for evacuation of Mexico of all foreign
troops. He learned of a plan to send ten thousand Austrian troops to
Mexico.35 Later, he reported he then had information that four thou-
sand Austrians would be sent to Mexico. Mr. Seward told John Motley
to notify the Austrian government that the United States government
and the people would not be pleased with seeing Austria try and sub-
vert the republican government and establish an empire in Mexico.

Mr. Seward again made a protest to Austria through Mr. Motley on April
6, 1866, when he stated:

in the event of hostilities being carried on hereafter in

Mexico by Austrian subjects, under the command or with the

sanction of the government of Vienna, the United States will

feel themselves at liberty to regard those hostilities as

constituting a state of war by Austria against the republic

of Mexico; and . . . the United States could not engage to

remain as silent or neutral spectators.
Mr. Motley's reply to Secretary Seward's despatch of March 19, was that
there were no unordinary forces leaving for Mexico. There was a group,
but only of the replacements sent regularly to replenish Austrian
forces in Mexico which was expected by their Treaty of Miramar.38

When Mr. Motley hesitated to present the strong protest Mr. Seward
instructed him, because of the contrast in this policy to those of the

past, Secretary Seward informed him that the contrast in policy was

not a question to be discussed at that particular moment. Mr. Seward
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also pointed out that Austria's authorizing the organization of any
volunteers to engage in a war against Mexico was inconsistent with
the principle of neutrality. Mr. Seward instructed Mr. Motley to se-
cure a pledge on Austria's part not to send the troops to Mexico.
Should the Austrian government persist in sending the troops, Mr.

39

Motley was instructed to retire from Vienna. Mr. Seward had already
spelled out his policy in his Instructions of April 16, 1866. He said
the United States maintained that the domestic republican government
in Mexico was the only legitimate government existing there. A war
had been waged there for several years for the purpose of erecting an
imperial monarchy by force. The United States, by its geographical
position and relations with Mexico, could not consent to the accom-
plishment of that purpose. The United States desired Austria to prac-
tice neutrality like the United States had asked France.40 The
Austrian government promptly replied to the protest by stating it had
taken measures to prevent the departure of the troops to Mexico, owing
largely to its approaching war with Prussia.41 Secretary Seward clearly
had initiated a more aggressive attitude toward Austria. He knew
Austria would be unwilling to risk war with the United States in light
of its increasing difficulties with Prussia. Mr. Seward was able to
avert any help to the Maximilian government by making a strong protest
and leaving the impression that war was imminent if Austrian troops were
allowed to leave.

Another complication was added to the Mexican question when
General Santa Anna attempted to launch a new military scheme with mone-
tary backing from private sources in the United States buying bonds

with which to finance the adventure. When Santa Anna tried to gain the
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official sanction of the United States government in his project,
Secretary Seward replied that a reception would be incompatible with
our practices since Santa Anna's remarks and opinions were contrary
to our relations with the republican government in Mexico.42

The great question in the United States and Europe was whether
Maximilian would withdraw with the French or attempt to maintain him-
self without foreign support. Napoleon, being in a difficult poéition
himself, refused to support the Prince. He sent one of his aides to
Mexico to deliver the Emperor's plans to Maximilian. In a letter given
to Mr. Seward by Mr. Montholon, on October 15, 1866, the new Foreign
Minister, Marquis de Moustier told the Maximilian government that the
limit of French sacrifices had been reached and there would be no
future aid from France. If Maximilian preferred to abdicate, that
course of action would be approved by the French government.

Matters were further complicated when the time came for the with-
drawal of French troops and no action was taken to that end by the
French government. John Bigelow sought explanations from the Emperor
himself. Expressing his concern in regard to the early assemblage of
the United States Congress, Mr. Bigelow tried to impress on the Em-
peror the need for quick withdrawal. The Emperor said the delay was
purely for military considerations since troops were needed there to
insure the safety of those already there. Mr. Bigelow gave Napoleon
his opinion that he believed he was acting in good faith but this change
of plans would not be warmly received in Congress. This might awaken
suspicions in the United States and strain United States-French rela-
tions even more.44 Secretary Seward's Instructions to Mr. Bigelow

were to act surprised and deeply concerned by the postponement of the
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the French withdrawal. Mr. Seward also denied allegations the delay
was caused by United States re-enforcements sent to help President
Jugfez. He declared the postponement inconvenient and exceptionable
and asserted: ''we cannot acquiesce,' because the time was too vague
and indefinite and he could not tell an impatient Congress and people
they had a better guarantee of French withdrawal than they could be-
forehand. Secretary Seward told Mr. Bigelow:

You will . . . state to the Emperor's government that the

President sincerely hopes and expects that the evacuation

of Mexico will be carried into effect with such conformity to

the existing agreement as the inopportune complication which

calls for this dispatch shall allow.%?

It became obvious the Emperor was only stalling for time, probably
more to relieve his own embarrassment than for any other reason.
Napoleon wanted it to appear France was leaving voluntarily and not
under pressure. In another attempt to delay the departure of French
troops, the Emperor made the proposition to form a new government which
would exclude both Maximilian and Judrez. Secretary Seward knew by this
time the Emperor could hardly reverse his course of action regarding the
French withdrawal. Declining the proposition and not wishing to be
drawn into further discussion and debate upon the withdrawal or en-
ticed into the same action he had accused France of pursuing, Mr. Seward
replied that the United States continued to recognize and respect the
authority of President Jué}ez and his republican government. The United
States practiced non-interference in Mexico's internal affairs.46

Secretary Seward had initiated a plan, partly to satisfy critics
in the United States, to put on a demonstration of unity with the

Judrist factions and display the armed forces of the United States to

the French who were delaying their departure so that they might see the
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need for a hasty departure. Mr. Seward sent Lewis D. Campbell as the
succeeding minister to Mr. Corwin, along with General Sherman. Their
purpose was to find President Jugrez and see if the need of the United
States land and naval forces might be needed to restore law and order
in that councry.47 This was clearly a violation of the very neutrality
Mr. Seward was assuring the French of violating, but a worthy weapon to
put his message across to the French to not long delay the removal of
their troops from Mexico in face of such an armed exposition. The
United States government had already sent aid to Judrez by way of
General Sheridan. Mr. Sheridan admitted that he had sent as many as
thirty thousand muskets and a large quantity of ammunition to the
Juérez forces, enough to equip a pretty good sized army.

Napoleon withdrew his army more quickly than he had promised.
The departure of troops began in December and continued until March 12,
1867. Owing largely to Mr. Seward's diplomacy and United States hos-
tility, the opposition in France itself, the menacing attitude of
Prussia, and the resistance of the Jugrez forces, Napoleon realized he
could not afford a continued war in Mexico.49

The Maximilian government virtually collapsed in two months after
the French withdrawal. Secretary Seward, seeing the early collapse,
telegraphed Mr. Campbell to ask Ju;rez for humane treatment for all
captured prisoners. He also asked President Judrez for clemency for
Maximilian if captured, believing a universal feeling of sentiment
toward Mexico might follow such an exercise of good will.So

Maximilian was captured on May 15, 1867, and tried by a court
martial. He was found guilty for the harsh decrees against the Juérist

forces he had issued and sentenced to be shot along with two other of
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his leaders. In spite of requests for clemency by several nations,
Maximilian was executed by a firing squad on June 19, 1867, in view
of future security for the country and to satisfy passions of the
liberal forces for the bitter war they had fought. Thus ended another

of Napoleon's dreams for a French empire in the Americas.
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CHAPTER VI
CONCLUSION

Secretary of State William H. Seward was undoubtedly one of the
truly great Secretaries of State, yet his early diplomacy in 1861 did
leave much to be desired. The proposal in his '"Thoughts' was certainly
an aggressive, dangerous approach to solving the problems of the United
States by a continental war. Perhaps this proposal was the only solu-
tion he believed would stop the Civil War before it could destroy the
Union he valued so much and settle the slavery question which he held
in so much disgust. Once he settled down to view the problem in its
entire perspective, his alternative policy served extremely well.

Napoleon's scheme from the beginning had in mind to establish a
Latin American empire and check the influence of the United States,
lest it become the sole dispenser of American commercial products.
Spain's part was mainly religious. England's part in the intervention
could be said to be honest in her intentions as to the collection of
debts due her but misdirected by an expansive France. It can also be
said that Judrez was hasty and untactful in his suspension of payment
for Mexico's debts, but Mexico was in a poor state of economic condi-
tion. It could hardly do more. The fact waé, France needed an excuse
to justify its intervention before the world and this served the need.

The first efforts of Mr. Seward to forestall the intervention were
a failure. He had reasoned they would quarrel among themselves and the
whole affair would end in disarray, but this was not the case. Although

they did quarrel, France proved to be determined to persist in an effort
80
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to establish a European monarchy in Mexico. As evidenced by Napoleon's
correspondence, this would not have been the case if the United States
had not been tried by internal troubles.

Even the idea to assume the interest on the Mexican loan was some-
what characteristic of the earlier aggressiveness on Mr. Seward's part.
Whether Mr. Corwin actually pointed out to Mr. Seward the other ''con-
siderations" of this proposal for acquiring the property because he
was an expansionist and it was thought the property would become in-
evitably United States property, or as merely a way to get the United
States involved in the Mexican affair, is a question for further study
and consideration.

In his effort to forestall the European intervention, Mr. Seward
was unsuccessful. Once the intervention took place, Mr. Seward's
course of moderation was wisely pursued. After the battle of Bull Run,
the United States could not afford a war with France, so Mr. Seward's
course was one of neutrality and prudence in our relations with France.
Mr. Seward spoke the language of the Monroe Doctrine without using it.
He knew its use could only serve to inflame European opinions against
it. From the very beginning of the invasion, Mr. Seward made it clear
that any attempt to force upon the Mexican people a European monarchy
would be a violation of the principles held by the inhabitants of the
American continents. Secretary Seward conceded the right of the European
nations to wage war against Mexico, a right which allowed France a
method by which to carry out its scheme, officially at least, without
conflicting with the policy as stated by Mr. Seward. Secretary Seward's
diplomacy in this manner was a great factor in prevention French recog-

nition of the Confederacy and allowing the United States to concentrate
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upon the domestic issues. Mr. Seward accepted the French assurances
of their honest intentions as long as this accomplished his purpose,
but Mr. Seward left his policy open for future change, as France must
have realized, conceding France the right to wage war but not to im-
pose a monarchial government on Mexico. Mr. Seward let the French know
its action was disapproved but not in strong enough language to gain
France's active disfavor. Mr. Seward used skillful diplomatic tech-
niques to inform the French of the United States disapproval.

Secretary Seward's policy of neutrality was certainly the wisest
course he could have pursued. France would certainly have used the
opportunity to strike at the United States if our policy had been
otherwise. The seriousness of this neutrality was realized when
Napoleon's concern was expressed to his Foreign Minister. When Maximilian
tried to gain recognition from the United States, Mr. Seward still held
o his neutrality policy, a wise course in view of the fact it further
convinced France that the United States intended to remain neutral in
the Mexican question.

Mr. Seward believed that eventually France would fail in its
scheme without the help of the United States, and in years to come,
Mexico would be conquered by immigration, so why fight a senseless war
with France. The United States, he believed would need France as a
friend in its commercial relations after the Mexican affair.

The Civil War's end removed the greatest danger to the United
States. If Mr. Seward had been practicing only a policy of prudence,
he could have changed this immediately after the war's end. Secretary
Seward still maintained his neutrality policy and went to great lengths

to convince the French of this. He could have assumed an antagonistic
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policy but preferred one which would gently, politely, and step by
step, remove the French from Mexico without making enemies of a much
needed ally.

Mr. Seward wisely decided to not heed the passions of the country
for a vindication of the Monroe Doctrine. Though there were numerous
protests for action by the people and Congress, Secretary Seward re-
fused to act by the uncontrolled and undisciplined passions of the
people. He skillfully defeated private attempts to instigate action
which might have upset his policy and refused to be swayed by popular
indignation. Instead, Mr. Seward used the popular will of the people
of the United States and the anxiety of Congress as a weapon to con-
vince the French government of the necessity of its immediate withdrawal.
He waited for the opportune time to confront the French with the viola-
tion of their own pledge of non-interference in the political affairs
of Mexico. Mr. Seward, undoubtedly, knew at this time that the French
people were against the continued intervention and Napoleon could not
linger the Mexican adventure. Certainly he knew that in view of the
possibility of war between Prussia and France, he could insist upon
the French withdrawal from Mexico. There was even evidence France
would not have helped Maximilian if the United States had declared war
on Mexico, but Secretary Seward refused to sway from his passive policy.

Once France was committed to a withdrawal date, Mr. Seward could
act more aggressive toward Austria when it threatened to interfere and
replace the French troops in Mexico. The United States was in a posi-
tion to be more aggressive and insisted Austria not interfere. A typi-
cal demonstration of summary diplomacy was employed.

There were many possibilities of danger in the Mexican question.
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The United States policy could have alienated several European nations,
but for the wise course of diplomacy followed by Secretary Seward. The
whole affair was handled with restraint and a minimum of international
friction, which was so important at that time. Secretary Seward's
diplomacy had kept France from recognition of the Confederacy, pre-
vented war with France, removed the French troops from Mexico, and es-
tablished good relations with the Jugrez government. There is no doubt
there were other factors which helped remove France from Mexico, but

the diplomacy of Mr. Seward's was certainly a major factor to that end.
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